
 

 
 

 
 

         12 January 2018 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 22 January 2018 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
 
TO: Councillor Daniel Clarke (Chairman) 
 Councillor Bruce Tennent (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Janice Asman 
Councillor Carol Boulton Councillor Cynthia Garton 
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Jerry Hall 
Councillor Keith House Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Clifford Morris Councillor Angel Myerscough 
Councillor Derek Pretty  

 
 
Staff Contacts: Cheryll Kemsley, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8112; 

Email: cheryll.kemsley@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437;  
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
GAETANA WISEMAN 

Performance and Governance Manager 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings 

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request. 

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public. 

 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation     
 
2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 8)  

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2017. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      

 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

  
5. Chairman's report     
 
6. Area Manager's report     
 
7. Ageas Bowl Review for 2017    (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
8. Community Grants 2018    (Pages 15 - 22) 
 
9. Financial Management    (Pages 23 - 28) 
 
10. Presentation on Planning Guidelines     
 
11. Planning Application - Former Budgens Store, 1 Upper Northam Road, 

Southampton, SO30 4DY    (Pages 29 - 62)  

 Outline planning application for mixed use redevelopment scheme within use 
classes A1(shops), A2(financial and professional services), A3 (restaurant/cafe), 
A4 (drinking establishment), A5 (hot food takeaway), C3 (residential apartments up 
to 77 units) and D1 (non-residential institution), within two separate blocks, 
together with access, car parking, landscaping and associated works (all matters 
reserved). (Ref O/17/80927). 

  
12. Planning Application - Land to the north west of Boorley Green, SO32 2BX    

(Pages 63 - 96)  

 Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline planning permission O/15/75953 
which was subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment) for Phase 1 scheme 
equating to 301 residential dwellings with associated parking, road infrastructure, 
landscaping, open space, surface water drainage networks, on-site waste water 
treatment works, provision of additional vehicular parking for Hedge End Railway 
Station and bus only connection to Shamblehurst Lane North (Ref: RM/17/81628) 

  
13. Planning Appeals      

 The Legal Services Manager to report that the following appeals have been 
dismissed:- 

 
 Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the erection of a 

detached three bedroom dwelling on land to the rear with associated access 



and parking at 10 Romill Close, West End SO18 3NE (Ref: C/17/80065). 
 

This was a delegated decision 
 

 Appeal against the Council’s failure to give notice within the prescribed period 
of a decision on a application for planning permission for a two storey rear 
extension and front dormer at 54 Lower Northam Road, Hedge End, SO30 4FQ 
(Ref: F/17/80388). 

 
This was a delegated decision 

 
 

  

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 12 March 2018 at 7:00 pm 

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news - 

 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 6 November 2017  (7:00 pm – 9:15 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Clarke (Chairman); Councillors Tennent, Allingham, Asman, 
Garton, Corben, Hall, House, Kyrle, Morris and Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Craig 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Boulton 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

35. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr Underhill handed in a letter regarding the proposed development at the 
old Budgens Store site at Hedge End at the beginning of the meeting. The 
Chair thanked Mr Underhill and advised that he would circulate it to 
Members. 
 

36. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2017 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

37. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

38. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 
 
The Chairman reported the following: 
 
Itchen Valley Country Park 
 
Following the report to the last Committee meeting about upgrading the 
visitor facilities at Itchen Valley Country Park, the Chair confirmed that the 
Borough Council’s Cabinet had approved expenditure of up to £285,000 
for the first phase of the works. This would include the extension of the 
cafeteria, indoor play and improvements to the outdoor play trail.  
 

1

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

Bubb Lane 
 
As noted elsewhere on the agenda, the Planning Inspector had dismissed 
the appeal against this Committee’s decision to refuse planning 
permission for up to 200 dwellings on land off Bubb Lane. The applicant 
had also officially withdrawn a further application for up to 140 dwellings 
on the same site. 
 
Shaping Your Community – part of the Local Plan process 
 
The Borough Council was currently seeking the views of residents and 
businesses to ensure that they were involved in shaping plans for the 
future of the Borough. This two-way process of engagement would end on 
Sunday 19 November 2017 and there was a survey available on the 
Council’s website. In addition, meetings with businesses had been held 
and last Friday, the Hedge End, West End and Botley Business 
Community Group attended a meeting at the Clarke Wilmott Offices in 
Botleigh Grange Business Park to discuss priorities. A meeting with Parish 
and Town Councillors was also being held this Thursday. A formal 
consultation would take place after the draft local plan had been agreed.  
 
HEWEB Youth Partnership 
 
The Partnership was finalising plans for its first annual event. “Empowering 
Young Women – a life without limits” for pupils in Years 9 and 10, in 
response to surveys conducted by the partners. Councillors and members 
of the public were being asked to recommend key note female speakers 
who were undertaking traditional male roles or who had overcome 
significant adversity within their lifetime to achieve their goals. The main 
event would be held at Wildern School on Tuesday 6 March to coincide 
with International Women’s Day. 
 
Boorley Green Working Group 
 
The next meeting of the Working Group would be Monday 20 November 
2017 at 18.30hrs. 
 
Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel 
 
The Panel would be meeting from 19.00hrs on Thursday 16 November 
2017 at the Ageas Bowl. This was the annual meeting to consider reports 
from the Borough Council and the Bowl’s Management Team as well as 
receiving residents’ comments during the meeting. 
 

39. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
The Local Area Manager reported the following: 
 

2



3 
 

Mill Gardens Play Area  
 
The draft design brief for the play area was shaped by the recent 
consultation with local residents. This had been forwarded to prospective 
suppliers and the final designs would be displayed for residents. Residents 
would then vote for their favourite design. It was hoped that the play area 
could be built by summer 2018 subject to the ground conditions and 
contractor availability.   
 
Responses to residents’ and councillors’ requests 
 
Wildern Lane and surrounding roads – following complaints from 
residents, councillors requested that traffic enforcement patrols were 
increased in this area. This happened last week and would continue into 
this week. Feedback from the traffic enforcement officers would be 
provided for local councillors. 
 
Cranbourne Park – a bench had been installed following a request from a 
Town Councillor on behalf of older local residents who walked their dogs 
at Norman Rodaway Recreation Ground and who needed a resting point 
before continuing the remainder of their journey.  
 
Crusader Road – wooden posts had been installed to prevent cars being 
parked on the verges thereby protecting the verges from further damage. 
This would also lead to better visibility for motorists and pedestrians. 
 
Beechwood Rise – the Committee is responsible for the trees within this 
public open space and remedial tree works had been recommended and 
subsequently approved by the Chairman. 
 
Berrywood Meadows 
 
The existing service level agreement between this Committee and the 
Council’s Direct Services covers a maintenance schedule for the 
wildflower meadows and adjacent paths. This agreement had now been 
extended to cover the maintenance of the walkway.  
 
Botley War Memorial 
 
Botley Parish Council owns the War Memorial and had recently received 
notification that the Memorial had now achieved Grade 2 listed status. 
 
Neighbourhood Watch 
 
The refurbishment of the signs for all of the active schemes within Hedge 
End, West End and Botley had now been completed. It was hoped that 
this “test case” could now be rolled out to other local areas within the 
Borough. 
 

3



4 
 

Councillor Hall reported that the signs in Netley Firs Road had not been 
refurbished. The Local Area Manager advised that this would be resolved. 
 

40. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
item 7) that recommended funding to support projects which would meet 
local needs. The projects would also contribute to the achievement of 
corporate priorities. Councillors were also requested to approve this 
funding along with the stated fees and charges for Itchen Valley County 
Park. 
 
RESOLVED -    
 
(1) That the formal allocation of £150,000 for the employment of a 

Community Development Worker for Boorley Park be 
approved, in line with the Section 106 agreement schedule, and 
receipt of payments over 8 years; 
 

(2) That funding of £5,500 from reserves for specialist advice and a 
management plan for Cheltenham Gardens Balancing Pond be 
approved; and 
 

(3) That the stated Fees and Charges for Itchen Valley Country 
Park be approved to come into effect in January 2018. 

41. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework. 
 

42. PLANNING APPLICATION - 87 HIGH STREET, WEST END SO30 3DS 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Development 
Management (Agenda item 9) concerning an application for the 
construction of 2no. two-bedroom and 2no. three-bedroom flats over two 
floors with undercroft parking, bin and cycle storage and new access onto 
High Street. (Ref: F/17/80280). 
 
The Committee was advised of two additional conditions. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That permission be GRANTED subject to: 
 
(1) The receipt of Developer Contributions towards the Solent 

Disturbance Mitigation Project; 
 

4



5 
 

(2) The recommended conditions and reasons; 
 
(3) New Conditions 16 - There shall be no delivery of materials 

during the construction and fitting out process accept between 
09:30hrs and 14:30hrs unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
with the local planning authority. Reason: In the interest of 
amenity and highway safety; and 

 
(4) New Condition 17 - Prior to commencement of development 

details of the measures to be used to restrict vehicular access 
to the undercroft parking shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved access 
control measure shall be implemented prior to first occupation 
and thereafter retained. Reason: To ensure on-site parking is 
retained for use by the residents of the development. 

 
(NOTE: The Chair of West End Parish Council and two members of the 
public spoke against the proposals citing a number of issues including: 
adverse impact; out of keeping; property would be higher than the existing; 
visually imposing; no outside space; visitor parking; did not sit well within 
West End; local business required free flow parking; on-street parking 
should be reserved for businesses; no transport assessment undertaken; 
number of units should be reviewed; limited parking; parking in West End 
needed to be addressed; and overdeveloped.) 
 

43. PLANNING APPLICATION - 67-71 HIGH STREET, WEST END, SO30 
3DS 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Development 
Management (Agenda item 10) concerning an application for change of 
use of part of the rear garden of No. 9 Severn Way to provide additional 
parking for existing car dealership, erection of a single storey extension to 
workshop building to provide additional service bay and associated 
drainage works. (Ref: F/17/81190). 
 
The Committee was advised that one further summary email of objection 
highlighting the points previously raised; and an amendment to paragraph 
48 of the report – the proposed customer parking was 8no spaces and not 
6no. as written. 
 
Three Members of the Committee had not been present when the earlier 
application was considered on 7 November 2016. 
 
Members debated the proposal in depth, considered it to be very finely 
balanced and acknowledged the impacts (physical expansion of the site) 
as well as recognising the benefits (economic/supporting a local business, 
improved parking, delivery of cars off-site) of the scheme. Some Members 
had visited the site to assess the physical impact on the surrounding area 
and the character of the locality.  Whilst it was not a reason for refusal 

5



6 
 

previously, Members noted the improved drainage strategy and the lack of 
objection from Southern Water.   
 
The Officer recommendation to REFUSE was overturned by Members, 
who resolved to delegate the decision to APPROVE the proposal to the 
Lead Specialist for Housing and Development in consultation with the 
Chair, Vice Chair and Ward Councillor’s subject to: 

 Suitably worded conditions 

 Secure contributions towards Sustainable Transport within the West 
End area.  

 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the decision be delegated to the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development in consultation with the Chair, Vice Chair and Ward 
Councillor’s to APPROVE, subject to: 
 
(1) Suitably worded conditions and reasons; and 

 
(2) Secure contributions towards Sustainable Transport within the 

West End area.  
 
(NOTES: a) One member of the public, representing eighteen residents, 
and a further resident spoke in objection to the proposals citing a number 
of issues including: thirty percent site expansion not sustainable; unfair to 
nine potentially affected properties; bring limited additional economic 
benefit; a fifty percent increase in MOT activity would likely increase off-
site parking of serviced vehicles; boundary trees; un-neighbourly 
behaviour by applicant; lighting; topography of land; drain capacity; 
destabilisation of bank between 9 Severn Way and Lower New Road; 
challenge responses from West End Parish Council and Transport officer; 
and granting the proposals would be detrimental to the community, and b) 
the applicant, agent and a neighbouring businesswoman spoke in support 
of the application citing that the proposals would also be a practical 
solution to the parking problems; there was less productivity now than 
twenty years ago; there would be no additional MOT bays; there would be 
no rear entrance from Severn Way; transporters would be at Chalcroft site; 
the company provided jobs, apprenticeships, and brought commerce to 
West End; Viking had been there since 1972; disappointed that dialogue 
with residents had broken down; what would be in its place if the garage 
was no longer there; and it was an established part of the community.) 
 

44. PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The Legal Services Manager reported:- 
 
(a) that the following appeal had been lodged:- 
 

54 Lower Northam Road, SO30 3FQ – Appeal against the Council’s 
non-determination of a planning application for a two storey side 

6



7 
 

extension and a single storey rear extension and front former (Ref: 
F/17/80388.) 

 
(b) that the following appeals had been dismissed:- 
 

18 High Street, Botley – Appeal against the Council’s refusal to 
grant planning permission for the demolition of existing single storey 
miscellaneous buildings. Clear site/construct 3 x 2 storey dwellings 
and garages and ancillary works (Ref: C/1679036). 
 
This was a delegated decision. 
 
Land off Bubb Lane, Hedge End – Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal to grant up to 200 dwellings (including up to 35% affordable 
housing), introduction of structural planting and landscaping, 
informal public open space and children’s play area and surface 
water flood mitigation and attenuation (Ref: O/15/77112). 
 
LAC decision 

 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

22 January 2018 

 AGEAS BOWL REVIEW FOR 2017 

Report of the Local Area Manager 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that this Committee: 

(1) Considers the review of  complaints, comments and recommendations for the 
Ageas Bowl during the 2017 season; and 
 

(2) Considers the community offer at the Ageas Bowl. 

 

Summary 

This report reviews complaints and comments which have been received within Eastleigh 
Borough Council for the 2017. The report draws comparison with the previous eight years 
and provides updates which address current residential concerns.  

The majority of this report was presented to the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel on 16 
November 2017 and there is also an update on community provision for councillors to 
note. 

Statutory Powers 
Section1 Localism Act 2011  

 

Strategic Implications 

1. The performance of the Ageas Bowl is hugely significant for the Borough 
Council in its delivery of strategic priorities.  The most obvious priority relates 
to the healthy community and the provision of sporting facilities certainly 
contributes to Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing for all sections of 
the population. The community outreach programme also helps with tackling 
deprivation as many of the children would not otherwise experience cricket 
coaching or spectating.  The introduction of the scholarship by Choi Kwang 
Do is also beneficial in this respect. 

2. The Ageas Bowl offers employment for many local people ranging from 
stewarding to catering, sales and marketing, coaching, maintenance and the 
many professions required by a hotel.  

9

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3.     The Ageas Bowl also contributes towards the aim of being a Green Borough 
with successful traffic management plans which helps with Tackling 
Congestion and associated pollution.  Future traffic plans also involve using 
the infrastructure within the site rather than additional external Park and 
Strides. The provision of an excellent environment for all is important for 
everyone who visits and works within the site and the surrounds.  The Ageas 
Bowl works closely with the Council’s Direct Services to achieve this and the 
minimising of waste. 

Introduction 

4 This report provides a summary of complaints and comments received by 
Borough Council staff in respect of cricket matches and large scale events 
held at the Ageas Bowl during the 2017 season.  It provides an overview of 
concerns and, where possible, makes practical recommendations which 
should address identified problems.   

5. This season the Ageas Bowl hosted 3 England international cricket matches 
and 2 concerts by Bryan Adams and Little Mix respectively. The T20 limited 
overs matches were played mainly in July and August. 

Complaints and Comments Analysis 

6. Complaints and comments received during the 2017 season are summarised 
below.  To enable comparison, a summary of statistics for the previous 8 
seasons is included in the following table.    

 

COMPLAINTS/COMMENTS 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Parking/Temporary Cones 2 2 9 4 13 5 17 17 7 

Bus shuttles/traffic management 0 9 0 1 2 4 3 2 4 

Noise/Concerts/Fireworks/Event 7 3 1 0 1 3 0 17 0 

Anti - Social Behaviour/Policing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Customer/Audience complaints 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 

Satisfaction/Compliments 0 1 0 0 0 1 8 6 2 

Other (MP Enquiry) 0 0 0 3 2 1 1 1 0 

TOTALS 9 17 11 8 18 15 29 43 14 

 

7. The majority of the complaints this season relate to noise generated at the 
Bryan Adams’ concert. 

8. It is worth making the general comment that traffic management has improved 
significantly especially concerning the concerts.  The lessons learnt from the 
Rod Stewart concert last year have clearly been applied and the Safety 
Advisory Group which monitors the special events has given good feedback to 
the site’s management team. 

9. The traffic management plan for the season was discussed with West End 
Parish Council as agreed at the last Liaison Panel.  

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Parking/Temporary Coning Plans 

10. There was one complaint about a lack of coning in Brookside Way which will 
be reviewed with the Managers of the Ageas Bowl. 

11. The Transport Services Manager at Southampton City Council has recently 
raised the issue of parking in Cheriton Avenue on match days.  This is a new 
area and again one which will be discussed with the Ageas Bowl’s 
Management Team as part of the annual review.  

Bus Shuttles and Traffic Management 

12. No complaints regarding this operational aspect have been received directly 
by Borough Council officers 

13.  The use of the haul road leading from Moorhill Road (A27) to the ground by 
buses was trialled for the first time on June 21 for the England v South Africa 
limited overs match.  This trial was successful and was continued for major 
events during the season. 

14. The Park and Stride site off Botley Road was also in operation which was a 
bonus as this site had been sold for a housing development and initially it was 
not available for the 2017 season. 

15. Additional train services and bus shuttles were provided for major events. 

16.  The Park and Stride site off Tollbar Way appears to have operated 
satisfactorily as no complaints have been received by the Borough Council. 

17. Marks and Spencer also allowed its car park to be used as a drop off for the 
Little Mix concert goers. The concert was held on a Sunday evening so this 
was outside the store’s opening times. 

18.  Work is taking place during the close season to extend the parking provision 
around car parks 2 and 3.  Further areas of the Ageas Bowl are also under 
consideration for car parking which will be needed given the closure of the 
Park and Stride site on Botley Road.  

Noise 

19. The Environmental Health Officer received 7 noise complaints directly.  All of 
the complaints related to the Bryan Adams’ concert.  Most of the complaints 
referred to the bass beat and this was audible in the following roads: 
Longridge Road; Giles Close; Lower St. Helen’s Road; Hobb Lane; Pretoria 
Road; Bursledon Road and Upper Northam Road.  With the exception of Giles 
Close, the roads are geographically close to each other leading to the 
conclusion that weather conditions were also a factor.  

20. The Bryan Adams concert was held on Friday 7 July and the Little Mix concert 
was held on Sunday 9 July.  There were no noise complaints for the Little Mix 
concert.  

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

21. The Ageas Bowl’s management team and the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer have reviewed the complaints and will be working further with 
Southampton City Council’s Licensing Team. 

Concerts/Fireworks 

22. No further complaints have been registered with the Council concerning the 
concerts or the Fireworks display which took place on Friday 3 November. 

Anti - Social Behaviour/Policing 

23. The local Police have not indicated that there was any ASB or other offences 
recorded in the 2017 season. 

24. Additional security was put in place for the concerts and international matches 
due to the terrorist attacks in London and Manchester. 

25. The stewarding company was replaced mid - season and the new personnel 
were much more visible during matches. 

 Community Programme  

  “Supporting Our Community to Play Cricket” 

26.    The Ageas Bowl has worked in 120 Primary and Special Schools plus 40 
Secondary Schools this year to deliver subsidised cricket coaching as part of 
the Chance to Shine Programme. 

 
27.  There has been continued expansion of the Women and Girls Cricket 

Programme with considerable increased engagement particularly at Softball 
festivals aimed at mums and daughters.  The Southern Vipers (Ladies cricket 
team) programme continues to grow with great success and there are a 
number of activities associated with this including a new roadshow which will 
tour the county next summer. 

 
28. The new England and Wales Cricket Board’s (ECB) All Star initiative resulted 

in over 200 5-8 year olds watching a T20 limited overs match, which for many 
was their first experience of the professional game. 

 
29.  Inspirational match day experiences were created for more than 1500 children 

who attended a game with their school or cricket club. 
 
“Supporting Our Community to Learn” 

30.  Project Fresh is a design and enterprise project sponsored by FatFace for 
secondary schools across the South Coast.  Over 150 students took part and 
4 winning schools had their designs produced and sold in FatFace stores this 
summer.  Each school received £1,000 to invest back into the school. FatFace 
will be running the project again in 2018 and the number of schools already 
entered has significantly increased compared to this year. 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

31.  The BTEC programme for post-16 education has now entered its second year 
and both 1st and 2nd year students are onsite studying full-time at the Ageas 
Bowl.  Those students who started last year all received excellent first year 
results and it is hoped that the BTEC will expand into boxing and golf in the 
future. 

 

“Supporting Our Community to Live Well” 

32. Poseidon Boxing Club continues to grow with over 600 members now taking 
part in keep fit sessions alongside juniors and adults who are in training to 
compete in local, regional and national championships.  The Club has recently 
gained 10 newly qualified coaches and upgraded 2 coaches to Level 2. 

33. Sport England has recently provided funding to support sessions for those 
with disabilities.  Also in partnership with the Saints Foundation, Poseidon 
now offer sessions to those with physical, mental, behavioural and learning 
difficulties.  

34. Choi Kwang Do - the martial arts club is now well established at the Ageas 
Bowl with 3 evening sessions. The Club focusses on practical self-defence 
skills and aims to achieve improved health and well-being for those taking 
part. There is no competitive element. 

35. The Club introduced the Tony Noyce Martial Arts Scholarship in conjunction 
with the Council in commemoration of Councillor Noyce who served West End 
and was the Mayor in 2014-15. The Scholarship will be available to 20 
students. 

36. The Hedge End Running Club now has over 300 members ranging in age 
from 16-65. New runners join a successful beginners club which has also 
been supported by the Council’s SportWorks team with their Couch to 5k 
initiative.  Members compete in road races and different cross country leagues 
so there is ample opportunity for runners to find the right level for their ability.  

37. The 18 hole golf course opened fully in the Summer. There has been some 
good feedback from members and it is hoped that there will be an increase in 
hotel guests using the golf facilities. 

    

Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel – 16 November 2017 

38. The Liaison Panel meeting received a similar report to this one as it reviewed 
the season and commented on any issues arising. There was a positive 
reaction from local councillors and residents regarding the management of the 
cricket matches and concerts. There was an assurance that West End Parish 
Council would continue to be consulted about traffic management plans. 
Eastleigh Borough Council is also consulted as part of the planning conditions 
for concerts. 

 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Financial Implications 

39.  There are no financial implications identified in this report.  

 Risk Assessment  

40. There are no identifiable risks associated with the recommendations made in 
this report. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

41. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out. 

Conclusion 

42. This report provides a review of the 2017 season in terms of issues that affect 
local residents largely around the staging of cricket matches and special 
events such as Fireworks night and concerts. The main community uses are 
also highlighted for councillors’ information. 

 
 

JULIA BIRT 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 4 December 2017 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt 
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information 

Schools Engagement Manager’s report to the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel – 16 
November 2017 

 

14



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

22 January 2018 

 COMMUNITY GRANTS 2018 

Report of the Local Area Manager on behalf of the Hedge End, West 
End and Botley Community Grants Panel 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that this Committee approves the community grants as 
contained in Appendix A to this report 

 

Summary 

The Grants Panel has reviewed 35 applications and recommends that grants for 2018 are 
awarded to local organisations operating within the Hedge End, West End and Botley local 
area.  

Statutory Powers 
Section1 Localism Act 2011  

 

Strategic Implications 

1. The Hedge End, West End and Botley community grants are important to 
local people and local organisations in accordance with the strategic Local 
First project. They do contribute towards Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and 
Wellbeing across all sections of the local community. The Panel commented 
on the number of initiatives which brought younger and older people together 
as well as the importance of supporting projects which helped to reduce social 
isolation amongst the elderly in particular although not exclusively. There are 
also grants for projects which contribute directly towards a Green Borough 
such as Botley in Bloom and the Hedge End Horticultural Society. 

Introduction 

2. Councillors will recall that this Committee has devolved responsibility for the 
provision of revenue grants to local organisations. This year 35 different grant 
applications were received. The total requested was £15.417.71 which 
substantially exceeded the allocated community grants budget of £6,980. It is 
proposed that a total of £9,590 is allocated with the grants budget being 

15

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

supplemented using other budgets such as the Wildern, youth initiatives and 
arts strategy budgets.   

3. Councillors Clarke, Garton and Pretty, as members of this Committee’s 
Grants Panel, met to consider the applications.   

The Panel’s decisions 

4. The Grants Panel gave careful consideration to  all of the applications to 
ensure a broad distribution of funding was spread throughout the three local 
parished areas.  

5. The maximum grant was stated as £500. However, special consideration was 
given to the applications for the Young Carers’ trip to Fairthorne Manor and as 
a result £600 was awarded. 

6. The Panel also considered the objectives of the organisations, the numbers 
attending and whether they were from the Hedge End, West End and Botley 
(HEWEB) area; the total costs of the project and whether funding was or could 
be sought from elsewhere, for example, from the town and parish councils 
and/or County Councillors representing the local area. 

7. A number of applications were made by Wildern School (D.@rt Centre) and it 
was agreed that some of these could be recommended for funding from this 
Committee’s Wildern revenue budgets.  

8. There are two applications which require further work (identified in Appendix 
1) before funds can be identified and allocated. 

9. It is recommended that grants be approved as contained in Appendix 1 to this 
report. 

Financial Implications  

10. There are no ongoing revenue implications associated with this report as this 
Committee’s revenue budgets are sufficient to fund the Panel’s 
recommendations. 

Risk Assessment 

11. The recommendations made by the Grants Panel do not hold significant risks.  
All grant awards are subject to the completion of a detailed application 
process.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: 
increasing the capacity of voluntary and community organisations to provide 
services and opportunities for children and young people, including young 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

carers, people with learning disabilities and older people.  The decision will 
help foster good relations between different groups by providing opportunities 
for all sections of the community, and specific opportunities for young and 
older generations to take part in activities together. A full Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because while there are some 
equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a full EIA. 

Conclusion 

12. The recommendations made in this report complement the Council’s 
corporate priorities as well as this Committee’s local priorities. Subject to the 
approval of this Committee, a grants presentation will take place before the 
local area committee meeting on 12 March 2018 to recognise and celebrate 
the breadth of community work being undertaken in the local area.   

 

 
 

JULIA BIRT 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 19 December 2017 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt 
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: One 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information 

 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



HEWEB Community Grants 2018 - Appendix A

Organisation Brief project description

Amount 

requested

Amount 

proposed Comment

Young People’s Wellbeing Service 

Funding for counselling of 18 - 19  year olds. 

Current funding only pays for those up to 17 years 

old £500.00 £500.00

West End Local History Society

The museum in West End is manned by 

volunteers who helps to archive and store historic 

photographs and items, and the funding would be 

used for archiving products. £500.00 £500.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Hedge End Arts Events 

We are seeking funding for our elders offer at the 

d.@rt Centre. The funding would be used to 

support our Hedge End Arts Appreciation events 

which run every half term and sessions are 

offered for free. £500.00 £400.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School  - 

Swimming Sessions

We are seeking funding to improve swimming 

sessions for people aged 11 who leave Primary 

School unable to swim the minimum Government 

requirement. The grant will be used to provide 5 

intensive swimming sessions for 16 young people. £400.00 £300.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Dance Workshops for boys

We are seeking funding to buy in the services of 

Luke Brown (a dance artist) to run dance 

workshops for boys after school. The aim of the 

sessions will be to increase self-image, self-

esteem and improve confidence in boys who may 

well be vulnerable or disengaged. £450.00 £300.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School -  

Swimming Equipment

The community swimming programme is hugely 

popular and has 650 users. The Leisure Centre are 

in the process of streamlining the community

swimming programme. They are changing the 

format of the lessons to run from ages 1-7. We 

are seeking funding for the purchase of new 

colour floats and swimming aids. £319.07 £300.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Boxercise & Circuit equipment 

The Leisure Centre currently runs boxercise and 

circuit classes and have worked hard to increase 

numbers. The classes have recently reached 

capacity and funding is required to replace worn 

out equipment and purchase

new boxing equipment for the groups. £313.74 £150.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School -  

Music Equipment

We are seeking funding to purchase a small P.A 

and 2 microphones with stands in

our small music practice room to support 

community members especially young people 

who would like to practice solo, duet and trio 

music at an affordable rate. £320.90 £200.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Wordplay Festival

The Wordplay festival is an annual month-long 

festival and one strand of this year's festival is 

poetry. Funding is required to help pay for local 

author and former Wildern pupil Matt Beames 

and to fund prizes for the poetry competition. £305.00 £200.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

BBC 10 Pieces project

The BBC 10 Pieces project aims to inspire a 

generation of children to get creative with 

classical music. This year the d.@rt Centre would 

like to buy in the services of Lewis Mullins from 

the Berry for a storytelling workshop with 

selected pupils from our feeder Primary Schools. £200.00 £200.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School -  

Summer Arts & Crafts Course for 

teenagers

We are seeking funding to support the 

development of a new course for teenagers which 

will run once a week during the Summer holidays. 

We aim to use the funding to pay for half the 

tutor fee for the 6 week period to launch the new 

course. £375.00 £300.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Young Carers Programme

We are seeking funding for our young carers 

programme. The young carers group has 

approximately 45 children attending a breakfast 

club once a fortnight within school. The funding 

would be required for refreshments for the 

breakfast club and a social activity during the 

Summer Term. We also like to offer subsidised 

social trips. £300.00 £300.00

The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Cookery Sessions

The d.@rt Centre offers cookery sessions as part 

of the crafty Saturdays offer. We are seeking 

some start-up funding to subsidise the start of a 

new group for those aged 16-19 who are leaving 

home for the first time, giving them skills to cook 

affordable healthy meals. £244.00 £200.00

19



The d.@rt Centre, Wildern School - 

Young Carers trip to Fairthorne 

Manor

We are seeking funding for a Young Carers trip to 

Fairthorne Manor, this trip has been running 

since 2012 and has been a resounding success. £600.00 £600.00

Alphabets Pre-School

We need to replace old/faulty storage 

trolleys/shelving. We set up and pack away for 

each session and the equipment is becoming 

damaged. £300.00 £150.00

Hedge End Horticultural Society 

We plant and maintain the flower beds in Central 

Hedge End. The grant would be used to purchase 

plants, compost and fertilisers. £300.00 £150.00 Seek match funding from Hedge End Town Council

Hedge End Tuesday Retirement 

Club

To provide a safe and friendly environment for 

elderly people in the area. We meet weekly to 

socialise and the money would go towards hall & 

bus hire. £500.00 £250.00

Botley Neighbourcare 

Providing transport for social outings and lunch 

clubs. Funding would support the ongoing use of 

the bus by using the grant for the annual 

insurance and to buy extra cushions for use by 

the elderly in the minibus.  We also support youth 

eg. Football clubs, scouts, guides etc. with 

transport. £500.00 £250.00 Seek match funding from Botley Parish Council

Performing Arts Company 

Giving young people the opportunity to learn all 

aspects of performing arts. Providing 

entertainment at a reasonable cost for the local 

community at the Berry Theatre and HE Village 

Hall. Funding required to subsidise and help with 

costs. £500.00 £250.00 Seek match funding from Hedge End Town Council

Life Education Wessex

Visiting Freegrounds Infants and St.James' schools 

over 7 days with sessions to improve health, 

wellbeing and lives of the young. It's £630 a day 

for the school visits and the grant will be used 

towards covering this cost. £1,925.00 £200.00

Mencap 

A place for people with learning disabilities to 

have a space to learn about and practice art. The 

grant will be used for Tutor and support costs as 

well as venue hire, exhibition costs and materials 

for the Flagship Art Club which meets at the Fire 

Station in West End. £500.00 £500.00

Life-Link 

Promoting social integration around Townhill 

Farm involving arts, crafts, community choir and 

marching band. This grant would be used towards 

hire of the hall, refreshments, arts and crafts. £500.00 £200.00

Conditional that members are from the Chartwell Green 

area.

Botley Primary School 

An outdoor classroom has been built on the 

school grounds to support the children's outdoor 

learning and environmental understanding. The 

grant will be used to build paths to the outdoor 

classroom so that the children can easily access it 

in all weathers and to sow a wildflower meadow. £500.00 £500.00

Wellstead Primary School 

Wellstead Primary School would like to have 

regular activities, such as cooking and crafting 

with elderly people in the community.  The grant 

would be spent on games, reading, gardening and 

cookery resources as well as travel. £450.00 £450.00

Hedge End Breathe Easy - Friday 

Fitness & Breathe Into Song Group

Providing people in the H/E, W/E and surrounding 

areas, who are living with a lung condition plus 

their family and friends the opportunity to 

exercise weekly and improve lung function by 

singing. The grant would be used for singing 

teachers and hall hire. £500.00 £425.00

Seek funding from County Councillor for Eastleigh North 

participants

Botley Twinning Association 

Botley Twinning Association is very well known 

for holding three social events each year, and 

these are open to members and non-members. 

The grant will be put towards the high cost of 

Public Liability Insurance (min.f300) - a necessary 

expense to protect our guests - members and non-

members who come to our fundraising events. £200.00 £100.00

National Pensioners Convention

Promoting the welfare and interests of all 

pensioners as a way of securing dignity, 

respect and financial security in retirement. 

Funding would contribute to hall hire, stamps 

for mailouts to members and newsletters. £500.00 £250.00

20



Brendoncare - The West End 

Club

Volunteer led social and friendship club for 

older people. Funding will help to cover hall 

hire and refreshments and also enable 

memberships to be kept affordable. £450.00 £300.00

Hilldene Community Centre

Provides a local meeting space for all those in 

the community from pre-school children to 

those that have retired. Funding would go 

towards new LED lights outside the building 

to provide safe access and egress. £390.00 £390.00

Home  Start Meon Valley

A voluntary organisation providing practical 

help, friendship and support for 

disadvantaged families living in the Meon 

Valley with at least one child under 5 years. 

Since the closure of Home Start Eastleigh, 

there has been no Home - Start provision for 

families. The Home Start service costs £25 

per week per family. The support will be a 

Home Start volunteer visiting the family at 

home once or twice a week for 2-3 hours 

each time to offer a whole range of support 

and practical help depending on the families' 

difficulties and situation. £500.00 tba

Seek clarification regarding "Meon Valley" and 

confirmation that funding would be allocated 

directly to families within HEWEB.

Music Fun Factory

To promote music in the Community so the 

young and the old, the children and parents 

can learn to play instruments together and 

play in a band. Funding requested for the 

purchase of ukuleles and a trolley.

£175.00 £175.00

Wyvern Theatre School

To promote positive connections between 

generations  with Key Stage 2 children 

visiting older people in care homes and 

community centres. The project centres on 

sharing memories assisting with social 

isolation and dementia. Funding will go 

towards coach travel; craft supplies and 

practitioner fees £500.00 £200.00

Botley Floral Club

Promoting and encouraging enjoyment of 

working with flowers in a community spirit. 

The funding is needed to cover teacher led 

sessions. £250.00 £250.00

Botley in Bloom

An annual gardening competition to promote 

a sense of community spirit and pride in the 

village. Free to enter and is open to all Botley 

residents. A contribution to the cost of 

plaques, shields, certificates, stationery and 

printing is requested. £150.00 £150.00

Backbeat Dance Exercise classes for the older population £500.00 tba

Meeting to be arranged with Sport specialist to 

discuss classes and locations before any funding is 

allocated

TOTAL £15,417.71 £9,590.00

21



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

22 January 2018 

 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

   Report of the Local Area Manager  

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that this Committee: 

 
(1) approves the allocation of £10,000 from reserves to fund the waste bin 

replacement programme for the local area; 

(2) approves revenue funding of £1,500 as a contribution towards the external 
storage project at St. James’ Church, West End; 

(3) approves the renewal of the existing service level agreement for another 12 
months with revenue funding of £5,500 for the Young People’s Wellbeing 
Service;  

(4) approves the allocation of the developer’s contribution to the Bradbeers’ 
roundabout public art project; and 

(5) approves the allocation of the future developer’s contribution to the Berry 
Theatre entrance public art project. 

 

Summary 

The recommended funding will support projects which meet identified local needs. The 
projects will also contribute to the achievement of corporate priorities. 

Statutory Powers 
Section1 Localism Act 2011  

 

Strategic Implications 

1. The proposed projects contribute to the Council’s strategic priorities especially 
in relation to Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing through, for 
example, the support given to the Young People’s Wellbeing Service. The aim 
of providing a Green Borough will be enhanced as a result of increased litter 
bin provision. All of the projects are based on local need and are therefore in 
accordance with the Local First project. 

23

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Waste Bin Replacement Programme 

2. The Council’s Technical Officer produced a recommended waste bin 
replacement programme for areas within Hedge End, West End and Botley 
(HEWEB). This was considered at the Committee’s team meeting on 30 
October 2017. 

3. There have been no amendments to the programme which is estimated to 
cost approximately £10,000.There are some economies of scale if all of the 
bins are ordered together and this expenditure can be afforded from the 
Committee’s reserves. 

4. As a result, Councillors are requested to approve this expenditure and to 
instruct the Local Area Manager to confirm the replacement programme in 
liaison with the Technical Officer and the Clerks of the three parished 
councils.   

St. James’ Church, West End 

5. The members of the Church have been extremely proactive and successful in 
securing funding for some major building works in recent years. As a result, 
this Committee has not been approached for financial support until recently. 

6. The Church’s Assistant Curate has written to the Local Area Manager 
regarding funding for a new storage area within the Church grounds. A youth 
club for 11 – 14 year olds from the West End area has recently been set up 
and the additional equipment for this club needs to be stored somewhere on 
the premises. Also a “Warm Welcome” initiative is currently being devised and 
whilst details are unknown at the time of writing, it is inevitable that extra 
storage will be needed. 

7. The storage project is estimated to cost £3,500 and in consultation with this 
Committee’s Chair, it is proposed that £1,500 is allocated from the 
Committee’s Local Initiatives budget. The Assistant Curate has also been 
advised about the suitability of other grant funding through Hampshire County 
Council and the HEWEB Youth Partnership. 

Young People’s Wellbeing Service 

8. The Young People’s Wellbeing Service (YPWS) which incorporates the 
Teenage Drop-In Centre (TADIC) at Hedge End and Hamble and the 
Eastleigh Youth Counselling provides a highly valued service for local young 
people. 

9. The YPWS is a charity and in the HEWEB area, weekly drop-in sessions are 
held at the Hedge End Medical Centre with additional provision being offered 
at Wildern School. It aims to provide the following for all young people: 

 A confidential and accessible service. 

 An opportunity to discuss all aspects of daily living. 

24



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 The knowledge to empower them to make informed choices regarding 
their own physical, emotional and sexual health. 

 
10. The Centre is run by a dedicated team of specialists including, doctors, sexual 

health nurses and counsellors as well as an Operations Manager and 
administration team also consisting of volunteers. As agreed, a review of the 
Centre’s performance has been undertaken by the Area Manager based on 
an analysis of data supplied by the Trustees and also through attendance at 
the Annual General Meeting on 29 November 2017. 

 
11. At the Annual General Meeting, it was reported that from April 2016 to March 

2017, there were 844 visits to the drop in centre. The majority of these visits 
were made by females who were between 16 – 19 years old. 

12. The Trustees also provided information regarding the postcodes of those 
using their services. This revealed that 78% of those attending consultations 
lived in the Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) area. The majority of 
clients lived in Hedge End. 

13. The current service level agreement for YPWS is due to end on 31 March 
 2018. The service level agreement operates on a 12 month basis. 

14.  The Hedge End Town Council Clerk has advised that his budget for 2018/19 
contains funding of £5,500 for the YPWS and it is recommended that this 
Committee continues to match fund with the Town Council for April 2018 – 
March 2019 and that a review of this agreement is carried out after 6 months, 
i.e., October 2018. 

 Public Art 

 Bradbeers Roundabout 

15. At a recent team meeting, members requested that an update was provided 
on the public art project for the Bradbeers roundabout in Hedge End. 

16.  The Public Art Officer has had some involvement in this project and had 
devised a brief and advised on potential artists. This project is being driven by 
Bradbeers who now need to appoint an artist. 

17.  Given the prominence of the roundabout and the delay in providing any public 
art to-date, it is proposed that the Council restarts the project in the New Year 
by meeting the management team at Bradbeers with a view to offering further 
guidance and agreeing deadlines for the delivery of the project. 

18.  Bradbeers are providing the majority of the funding but Councillors are asked 
to formally approve the allocation of the following developer’s contribution: 

 DC F/14/75157 Ram Capital Ltd re Unit 1a Bradbeer Retail Park, 
Wellington Park  £6,812. 

  

25



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Berry Theatre Entrance 

19. Initial work has been undertaken to assess the Berry Theatre entrance public 
art project. The Project Initiation Document has been written and this identifies 
that the gates and the pillars require a complete upgrade and consequently, 
this project will cost more than the original developer’s contribution of £7,631.  

20. As a result of this shortage in funding, the Public Art Officer has negotiated 
the following developer’s contribution for the Berry Theatre entrance:-  

DCF/17/80651 – Foreman Homes Ltd re Land west of Waylands Place 
and north of Peewit Hill Close, Hedge End -  £30,600 plus indexation. 

The Committee is requested to approve the formal allocation of this future 
Developer’s contribution. This is on the basis that funding will only be spent 
upon receipt, timing of which is dependent on the date of first occupation. 

Financial Implications 

21.  All of the recommended funding streams can be afforded using this 
Committee’s revenue and reserves and developers’ contributions as stated. 

Risk Assessment 

22. There are no risks to the Committee in terms of on-going liabilities. If funding 
is not allocated, there is a risk that some of the Council’s corporate and local 
priorities will not be met.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

23. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. An Equality 
Impact Assessment has not been carried out. 

Conclusion 

24. The Committee is asked to approve the recommendations as outlined.   

 

26



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

JULIA BIRT 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 20 December 2017 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt 
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 22 
January 2018. 
 
Application 
Number: 

 
O/17/80927 

Case Officer: David Huckfield 
Received Date: 30 June 2017 
Site Address: Former Budgens Store, 1 Upper Northam  Road, 

Southampton, SO30 4DY 
Applicant: Hedge End Holdings Ltd 
Proposal: Outline planning application for mixed use redevelopment 

scheme within use classes A1 (shops), A2 (financial and 
professional services), A3 (restaurant/café), A4 (drinking 
establishment), A5 (hot-food takeaway), C3 (residential 
apartments up to 77 units) and D1 (non-residential 
institution), within two separate blocks, together with access, 
car parking, landscaping and associated works (all matters 
reserved).  
 

Recommendation: REFUSE OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION  
 
FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS: 
 

(1) The proposals fail to demonstrate that the site could be developed for the nature 
and level of development proposed without unacceptable detriment to the 
character and visual amenity of the locality and to this extent are considered to 
represent an inappropriate overdevelopment of the site. The application is 
therefore contrary to Saved Policy 59.BE of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review (2001-2011), and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

(2) The proposals fail to demonstrate that the site could be developed for the nature 
and level of development proposed without the amenity of its future residential 
occupiers being undermined through the impacts of odours, noise and 
disturbance, and without unacceptable impact upon the amenity of the occupiers 
of existing neighbouring dwellings by way of visual intrusion, loss of privacy, loss 
of outlook, overbearing impact, odours, noise and disturbance. The application is 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Saved Policies 30.ES, 59.BE and 
142.TC of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
requirements of Paragraphs 17 and 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

(3) The application fails to demonstrate that a satisfactory level of on-site car 
parking, cycle storage and a suitable internal layout for vehicles could be 
provided without detriment to highway safety and amenity. The proposals are 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Saved Policies 59.BE and 104.T of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, the Council’s adopted 
Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document and 
Paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

29

Agenda Item 11



(4) The proposals would result in a significant and unjustified loss of A1 retail 
floorspace within the designated primary shopping zone of Hedge End District 
Centre and would thereby have an unacceptably detrimental impact upon its 
vitality and viability. The application is therefore contrary to Saved Policy 137.TC 
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and paragraphs 17 and 
23 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

(5) Insufficient information has been provided to the Local Planning Authority, as the 
competent authority, to enable it to determine that a suitable scheme for 
sustainable urban drainage for the proposed development would be provided 
which would both adequately manage surface water arising from the 
development and protect the hydrological and ecological interests of the Solent 
Complex, as set out in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2010. The application is therefore contrary to the requirements of Saved Policies 
25.NC and 45.ES of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and 
Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

(6) The application fails to secure the required developer contributions for the on and 
off-site provision of facilities and infrastructure (including affordable housing, 
education, the Solent disturbance mitigation project, community infrastructure, 
off-site public open space, public art) made necessary by the development or to 
mitigate against any increased need or pressure on existing facilities. As such the 
application is contrary to policies 25.NC, 74.H, 147.OS, 165.TA, 191.IN of 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Eastleigh Borough Council's 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document and Paragraphs 17, 
203 and 204 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans: 16008_A(SV)S0-000, 16008_A(SV)S0-001, 16008_A(SV)S0-
002, 16008_A(SV)S0-003, 16008_A(20)S0-001, 16008_A(20)S0-002, 
16008_A(20)S0-003, 16008_A(20)S0-004, 16008_A(20)SO-007, 
16008_A(20)A0-100, 16008_A(20)A0-101, 16008_A(20)A0-102, 16008_A(20)A0-
103, 16008_A(20)A0-104, 16008_A(20)A0-105, C21563-0500 Revision P2, 
T411_02. 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough council take a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

 
 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a Major 

development which is considered to be controversial.         
 

Description of application 
 
2. The application seeks outline approval for a mixed use development comprising 

of up to 77 residential apartments, together with a range of commercial / non-

30



residential uses, totalling 488.1sqm sqm of floor space within use classes A1 
(retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurant/café), A4 
(drinking establishments), A5 (hot food takeaway) as well as D1 (non-
residential institutions). The proposals also incorporate a range of associated 
works including access, car parking and landscaping.  
 

3. The application seeks to establish the principle of development on the site, with 
all other matters of detail which include the exact access arrangements, the 
appearance, scale and layout of the development and the detailed landscaping 
provisions, being reserved for consideration at a separate reserved matters 
stage (the second part of a two-stage planning process) should outline 
permission be granted.  
 

4. The application is, however, accompanied by a range of indicative plans which 
seek to establish parameters for future development and demonstrate how the 
site may be developed for the scheme proposed. These include: proposed 
areas of land use; proposed ground levels; proposed building extents; 
proposed development heights; and, the proposed extent of car parking. In 
addition, artist’s impressions have also been provided to give an indication as 
to how the buildings may appear, along with floor plans to show how they may 
be internally laid out. Whilst, as noted above, the application is in outline form, 
these plans are a material consideration in the determination of the application. 
 

5. These drawings show the development comprising of two separate individual 
blocks. One on the corner of Upper Northam Road and Wildern Lane in place 
of the existing retail store which would contain residential apartments on the 
upper storeys with the commercial uses along with an area of undercroft car 
parking at ground floor level, and one in the rear car park area of the site with 
undercroft car parking and residential apartments above. The former is 
indicated to be 4 storeys in height, with the latter a mix of primarily 4 and 5 
storeys, with a reduced central section of a lesser height. The site layout and 
submitted Transport Assessment outlines that up to 110 associated car parking 
spaces would be provided. 
 

6. In addition to the aforementioned parameter plans, the application is also 
accompanied by the following reports and technical assessments: 

 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Planning Statement 

 Transport Statement 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 Flood Risk Assessment  

 Below Ground Drainage Strategy 

 Financial Viability Assessment  
 
7. The application has been considered in respect of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The proposal 
does not constitute Schedule 1 development and does not exceed the 
threshold for Schedule 2 development (category 10 – urban development 
projects incorporating more than 1 hectare of non-dwellinghouse development, 

31



more than 150 dwellings, or more than 5 hectares in overall site area). As such, 
a screening opinion is not required and the development is not considered to 
constitute ‘EIA development’. An Environmental Statement is not therefore 
deemed to be necessitated.  

 
The site and its surroundings 

 
8. The application site comprises the former Budgens supermarket store which 

occupies a prominent corner location at the junction of Upper Northam Road 
and Wildern Lane in Hedge End, as well as an extensive area of hardstanding 
which provides for ancillary car parking to the west and north. The building is of 
brick construction and varies between one and two stories in height, with a 
taller vertical projection to the rear which is understood to house a lift-shaft. The 
site as a whole is irregular in shape and covers an area of approximately 0.46 
hectares in size. It is relatively flat in terms of its topography with no significant 
changes in levels across its extent. Vehicular access is provided from Wildern 
Lane to the east whilst the supermarket building itself has its primary shop front 
onto Upper Northam Road, with a secondary customer access as well as a 
delivery access from the car park to the rear. The site is currently vacant with 
the store having ceased trading in 2016.  
 

9. The site is situated within the urban edge and falls within the primary shopping 
zone of Hedge End District Centre, as set out within the Council’s adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011. The shopping zone is 
comprised of a mixture of commercial and town centre uses, including retail 
stores, banks, estate agents, cafés and hot food takeaways. The supermarket 
store is bordered by some of these uses to its western side, as well as to the 
opposing sides of both Wildern Lane and Upper Northam Road, with these 
being set within a mixture of single and two-storey buildings of varying periods, 
designs and scales.  
 

10. There are residential uses to the north and east, including Ascot Place, a three-
and-a-half storey block of flats which borders the application site along parts of 
its eastern and northern boundaries, with these being demarcated by a mixture 
of close-boarded timber fencing and hedging. The remainder of Wildern Lane 
moving northwards is comprised of lower profile residential properties, including 
two-storey houses and single-storey bungalows. To the west of the site is Greta 
Park, a relatively extensive area of open space which contains sports pitches, a 
basketball court, separate children’s play area, as well as the Hedge End 
Library building. The boundary of the car park area is substantively marked by 
metal palisade fencing, which runs along its southern, western and northern 
sides, beyond the latter of which is an area of protected trees which also fall 
within the redline boundary of the application site. To the west, the palisade 
fencing is supplemented by a verdant hedge which runs along the length of the 
site’s boundary with Greta Park.   

 
Relevant planning history 

 
11. The planning history of the site consists of a range of applications pertaining to 

its retail/supermarket use. These include those for the display of 

32



advertisements as well as the undertaking of extensions and other minor 
alterations to the store and its shopfront.  
 
Representations received 

 
12. A total of 89 letters of representation have been received in relation to the 

application, with these comprising 88 letters of objection and 1 letter of 
comment. 
 

13. The objections raised are in relation to the following matters (summarised): 
 
Design, scale and impact on the character of the area: 

 

 The design, height, scale and visual appearance of the development is 
out of keeping with the area and the village feel of Hedge End. 

 The development has no sympathy with existing low level buildings. 

 Overdevelopment of the site.  

 The development is too large and will have a dominant appearance and 
overbearing impact on Hedge End Village Centre.  

 
Traffic, parking and highway safety 

 

 Impacts of additional traffic created by the development.  

 Traffic surveys were not carried out at realistic times and not allowing for 
school traffic.  

 More traffic will increase the risks to school children and pedestrians. 

 Highway safety concerns in relation to the proximity of the access to 
nearby junctions / traffic lights.  

 No allowance for delivery vehicles in the design.  

 Lack of car parking.  

 Hedge End needs a decent car park for residents to have a good and 
varied shopping experience.  

 Public car parking should be provided.  

 Existing parking problems since the Budgens store closed with local 
streets already struggling with overspill parking from town centre activities.  

 
Impact on Hedge End Centre 

 

 Flats are not needed in the middle of the village. 

 There are already enough pubs, cafés and takeaways in Hedge End.  

 The village has poor retail offerings and needs another supermarket. 

 A low cost supermarket is needed or an express store with long hours.  

 Another supermarket would support the village centre and provide more 
employment.  

 A better range of restaurants, pubs or a supermarket is needed.  

 There are already empty small shop units struggling to find tenants, more 
are not needed. 

33



 To ensure the future survival of Hedge End village, an increase in retail 
properties is required to encourage local residents to visit and shop in the 
village.  

 A smaller number of dwellings and a pub would be welcome competition. 

 Budgens does need a facelift and this is a golden opportunity to build 
something better for the community.  

 The development will not enhance the existing facilities in anyway.  
 

Amenity 
 

 Impact of amenity of residents of Wildern Lane and Ascot Place, through 
loss of light, disturbance, loss of views, overlooking and loss of privacy. 

 Excessive noise, dust and smells. 

 Concerns regarding safety of residents when demolition is taking place.  
 
Impact on infrastructure and local services 

 

 Impacts on local services which are already stretched including doctors, 
dentists, roads, and schools.  

 Something for the community is required and the space should be used to 
provide something practical for everyone.  

 
Impact on Greta Park 

 

 Close proximity of the development to the Park and football pitches.  

 Impact on people’s enjoyment of the Park.  

 The development is likely to generate complaints from future residents 
from activities in the Park including football matches and the carnival.  

 Concerns for safety of children playing in the Park. 

 Concerns regarding the direct access from the Budgens site being 
opened up to Greta Park.  

 
Other 

 

 Affordable homes should be built, not flats.  

 There is already too much housing in Hedge End. 

 More homes are not needed, there are already hundreds if not thousands 
of homes being built in the area.  

 Flooding and storm drains are not equipped to take extra water.  

 Impacts on biodiversity in respect of the hedgerows on the boundary of 
the site and the tree preservation area.  

 Undercroft car parking could encourage anti-social behaviour.  
 
14. The 1 letter of comment received on the application made the following 

observation: 
 

 I personally don’t have a problem with this, look at the people who don’t 
have anywhere to live, however, more schools are needed in the area to 

34



take the amount of children from Boorley Green and now this 
development.  

 
Consultation responses 

 
Biodiversity  

 
15. Recreational Pressure: The site is within the 5.6km buffer of the Solent and 

Southampton SPA. To ensure that the impact from new housing is mitigated 
the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership has been formed and a strategy 
formulated to manage visitors in sensitive areas. To fund this strategy all 
housing within the 5.6km buffer must pay a contribution of £184 per dwelling. 
 

16. Drainage: The site is within the locality of the Wildern Stream and there may 
therefore be a need for mitigation for in-combination water quality issues and 
the Natura 2000 and Ramsar network. However, it would appear from the 
drainage plans that the site is thought to discharge into the sewer with the 
stream being some distance from the site. To be sure of no impact, it is advised 
that the discharge point is established before planning permission is granted to 
ensure no pollution of the Wildern Stream, a tributary of the River Hamble.  
 

17. Bats and Reptiles: The ecological survey has assessed the site as having low 
potential for bats and reptiles. All appropriate surveys have been undertaken. 
Due to the possibility of reptiles being disturbed when the hedge is removed 
and the possibility that bats could colonise the gap opportunities for roosting 
within building 1, the recommendations for there to be an ecological watching 
brief for the hedgerow removal and soft strip of the building are supported. A 
condition is recommended to this effect.  
 

18. Biodiversity Enhancement: A further condition is recommended to require a 
biodiversity enhancement strategy to be submitted in relation to the 
development.  
 
Head of Environmental Health  

 
19. The outline application is particularly wide ranging making it difficult to comment 

upon the likely amenity and pollution impacts with any confidence. Overall in 
the submission to date, the applicant has not demonstrated that the proposed 
wide mix of uses could be accommodated on site without causing an 
unacceptable impact upon amenity to existing and future residential uses due 
to the emission of noise and odour. It is recommended that permission should 
not be granted until these matters are resolved.  
 

20. Noise Impacts: It is not clear in the illustrative layout how the commercial units 
can be serviced by deliveries or how the impact of noise from this activity could 
be managed to acceptable levels. In addition, there are concerns regarding 
music noise (and to an extent patron noise) from A4, certain D1 uses and to a 
lesser extent A3 uses with these being structurally attached to residential units 
located above. Airborne and structure borne noise could give rise to an 
unacceptable impact on residential amenity. Whilst it is possible to design a 

35



building to retain reasonably high music noise levels, the acoustic design needs 
to take into account the intended end use. Seeking such a wide range of uses 
makes it difficult to assess the likely impacts or indeed condition building design 
appropriately. Deigning for the worst case scenario will involve significantly 
increased cost.  
 

21. Some of the proposed uses are expected to have a relatively benign impact 
outside of normal working hours. Other uses (especially A4 and potentially A3 
and A5 uses) to be economically viable, will operate late into the evening and 
risk causing impacts upon amenity. This creates potential conflicts with the new 
residential elements of the building and also has implications for layout and 
design. It is noted here that balconies are shown facing onto the main streets 
immediately above the ground floor commercial use.  
 

22. Whilst traffic noise impact is unlikely to make the proposals unviable, the 
indicative plan should consider the likely impact of traffic noise on the proposed 
residential units. This would require an assessment of likely noise levels. The 
indicative plan shows a large number of balcony areas on the frontage facing 
the main roads. There is a risk, in particular, that this form of design would not 
provide high quality external amenity space if that is its intended function.  
 

23. Cooking Odours: It is not clear how the impact of cooking odour on new 
residential uses from the new A3, A4, A5 uses and the existing A3/A5 uses can 
be managed to acceptable levels. The provision of high buildings and the 
introduction of new residential receptors may either increase the risk of poor 
dispersion of odours and create amenity issues where none currently exist and 
/ or impact upon the viability of the existing commercial uses, if financial 
investment is required to improve odour abatement in these premises. High 
level discharges for these uses will not be practicable. Low level discharges 
may require additional investment in odour abatement technology and be more 
onerous to maintain.  
 

24. Other: Further concerns relate to the control of plant noise, external lighting and 
the contamination found on the site could be controlled by condition.  

 
Head of Direct Services 

 
25. Details of the waste and recycling arrangements for the site should be provided 

to include the location, size and number of bins required and the R.C.V. 
tracking.  

 
Head of Housing Services  

 
26. The site would be a qualifying site for affordable housing provision and in line 

with the Council’s Affordable Housing SPD would need to provide 35% 
affordable homes which on the basis of 77 units overall would equate to 27 
affordable homes. However, it is noted that the applicant is not proposing any 
affordable housing due to viability issues and that they have submitted a 
viability appraisal in support of this. It is assumed that this is being verified and 
will await the outcome in due course. Additionally the planning statement 

36



highlights a case for the Vacant Building Credit being applied.  
 
Trees  

 
27. As part of the application tree constraints have been considered. Given the 

significant trees are grouped to the north, and there appears to be a consensus 
that these will be retained, no objection is raised to the outline proposals. At 
reserved matters stage, I would expect to see an arboricultural report from an 
appropriately qualified consultant to include an arboricultural impact 
assessment, tree protection plan and arboricultural method statement.  

 
Hampshire County Council Archaeologist  

 
28. No objection. There are no archaeological issues raised in this instance.  
 

Hampshire County Council Highways Development  
 
29. A holding objection is raised subject to clarification and the amendment of 

issues in the following respects: refuse vehicle tracking that demonstrates 
available space for on-site turning; EBC confirmation that the parking quantum 
accords to the EBC Parking Standards; any shortfall in vehicle parking quantum 
being addressed; and, confirmation of the cycle parking provision, inclusive of 
storage drawings.  

 
30. Access: Pedestrian, cycle and motorised vehicle access into the site is 

unchanged from the existing situation, and this is accepted given that the 
provision conforms to current standards.  

 
31. Internal Layout: The internal site layout is generally acceptable, however, it is 

unclear how a refuse vehicle will enter and exit the site in a forward gear and as 
such additional vehicle tracking drawings are requested to show an Eastleigh 
Borough Council (EBC) refuse vehicle’s turning movement. EBC Direct 
Services will also need to provide comments in relation to refuse.  

 
32. Vehicle Parking: A review of parking has been undertaken given that there 

appears to be shortfall that onwards generates highway concerns given that 
this appears to be significant. The overall dwelling specific parking spaces 
would be 107. On top of this, would be the required 20% uplift for visitor parking 
(22 spaces), 15 spaces of which should be formally laid out with the remainder 
(7 spaces) being in informal non-obstructive parking locations on site. Clearly 
the informal parking spaces cannot be accommodated due to the layout, 
however, even if this element were to be eliminated this results in a minimum of 
122 residential parking spaces on site.  

 
33. In regard to commercial related parking, the HCC parking guidance was 

withdrawn in April 2013, with local planning authorities to set levels according to 
local needs. It is understood that the EBC commercial standards are currently 
going through a consultation process but generally reflect the HCC standards. It 
is understood that end uses for the commercial element will include food sales, 

37



and as such the appropriate standard would be 1 space per 14sqm, which 
would equate to a minimum of 35 vehicle parking spaces.  

 
34. As such, overall, it is understood that the accord with the EBC Parking 

Standards (both adopted and current in consultation), a minimum of 157 vehicle 
spaces would be required, with only approximately 110 being proposed. Given 
the significant shortfall, it is requested that confirmation be given by EBC that 
their assessment agrees with the above and, if so, this shortfall would 
constitute a highway objection. 

 
35. Whilst car parks are located in the area, these are all private, and as such 

would not be open for general users of the application site. With parking issues 
already being reported in the surrounding streets there would be a highway 
safety concern given that overflow parking could result in parking at access 
junctions that causes a loss of visibility, on footways that obstructs pedestrian 
movement, etc. 

 
36. Additionally, details of how the on-site parking would be managed would be 

requested. At present there does not appear to be any differentiation between 
the residential and commercial parking, which could onwards cause significant 
issues. Ideally the parking would be separated to ensure each user group has 
adequate parking available.  

 
37. Cycle Parking: In accordance with EBC Parking Standards, cycle parking will 

need to be provided but does not appear on plans. For residential elements, the 
standard is 1 space per dwelling, in a shared lockable and covered facility (77 
cycle spaces overall). These spaces need to be shown on plans. Additionally 
the commercial element will also need a provision, although this may be offset 
by any existing publicly available cycle parking.  

 
38. Trip Generation and Transport Developer Contributions: Trip generation has 

been assessed on a proposed less existing development basis, which 
demonstrates that overall a reduction in associated trips would be anticipated. 
This will onwards have highway benefits, which is welcomed. As overall trip 
rates are anticipated to reduce as a result of the development proposals, no 
transport DC’s are required.  
 
HCC Flood & Water Management  

 
39. Further clarification is required on the proposals in order for a response to be 

provided. This includes: evidence that the applicant understands the sensitivity 
of discharge points relating to the receiving water body; a plan showing the 
existing drainage network for previously developed areas (brownfield) of the 
site; existing and proposed run-off calculations (1 year and 1:100 year plus 
climate change); information on general maintenance regimes; and, an 
allowance of 10% to be added to all impermeable areas to allow for urban 
creep.  
 

  

38



Southern Water  
 
40. Foul sewerage: Southern Water is currently unable to accommodate the needs 

of the application without the development providing additional local 
infrastructure. A condition is therefore recommended to require the submission 
and approval of a drainage strategy prior to the commencement of any 
development works being undertaken.  
 

41. The proposed drainage layout shows a pumping station close to an existing 
building. If the applicant wishes to offer a new on-site foul pumping station for 
adoption, this would have to be designed and constructed to the specification of 
Southern Water. It appears that the proposed new buildings will be built over 
the sewers, so should the sewers be built as shown, Southern Water would not 
be prepared to enter into an agreement to adopt the sewers.  
 

42. Surface water drainage: There is currently insufficient information available to 
confirm if surface water sewer capacity is available to serve the proposed 
development. Further investigation of the downstream sewerage network is 
required to confirm the downstream sewerage details to assess capacity. 
Alternatively the developer can discharge surface water flow no greater than 
existing levels if proven to be connected and it is ensured that there is no 
overall increase in flows in the surface water system.  
 

43. Potable water supply: Following initial investigations, Southern Water can 
provide a water supply to the site. A formal application for connection and on-
site mains will need to be made by the developer and an informative is 
requested in this regard.   
 
Natural England  
 

44. No objection subject to the required contribution towards the Solent Recreation 
Mitigation Partnership being made to mitigate against the adverse effects from 
additional recreational disturbance arising from the development on the Solent 
& Southampton Water Special Protection Area (SPA). 
 
NHS (West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group)  

 
45. No comments received.  

 
Hedge End Town Council – 

 
46. Objection on the following grounds: 
 

 Proximity of dwellings to residences of Ascot Place, Wildern Lane. 

 Proposed pedestrian access and removal of hedgerow in Greta Park 
boundary. 

 Height and density.  

 Increased vehicular access to Wildern Lane. 

 Overdevelopment. 

 Insufficient public parking in view of the proposed retail outlet.  

39



 Lack of a tangible Transport Plan.  
 

Policy context:  designation applicable to site 
 

 Within the Urban Edge  

 Within a Designated Primary Shopping Zone (Hedge End District Centre) 

 Within the Solent Disturbance Mitigation Zone 

 Subject to a Tree Preservation Order 
 

Legislative provisions, development plan saved policies, emerging local 
plan policies, SPD’s and National planning policy 

  
Legislative provisions: 

  
47. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
The Development Plan 

 
48. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the Saved 

Policies within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013). 

 

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 
 
49. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 was adopted in May 

2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of proposed Saved 
Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be saved until they 
could be replaced by a new Local Development Framework. The following 
policies were Saved and are considered to be of relevance to the development 
proposals: 

 

 25.NC and 26.NC (biodiversity), 28.ES (waste collection and recycling), 
30.ES (noise-sensitive development), 33.ES (local air quality 
management), 34.ES (energy and climate change), 35.ES (contaminated 
land), 45.ES (drainage), 59.BE (promoting good design), 63.BE (car park 
design), 71.H (mixed use development), 72.H (housing densities), 73.H 
(creating mixed communities), 74.H (affordable housing), 100.T, 101.T and 
102.T (transport and new development), 104.T (parking), 133.TC (district 
centres, village and local centres, neighbourhood parades), 137.TC 
(changes of use and district centres), 140.TC (offices and residential), 
141.TC (upper floors), 142.TC (hot food outlets), 147.OS (public open 
space), 165.TA (public art contributions), 167.LB and 168.LB 
(archaeology), 190.IN (infrastructure and utilities), 191.IN (developer 
contributions).   

 
  

40



Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013  
 
50. The site consists of previously developed land and does not lie within a 

designated mineral or waste safeguarding or consultation area. In this instance, 
therefore, it is not considered that the provisions of this Plan are of specific 
material relevance to the determination of the particular development proposed 
as part of this application.  

 
Emerging Local Plan Policies 

 
51. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination in 

July 2014. In the Inspector’s subsequent Report (11 February 2015), this Plan 
was found to have a number of shortcomings in relation to housing need, 
identified housing requirements and housing supply, sufficient that it was found 
to be unsound. The Council have ceased work on this Plan and are in the 
process of preparing a new plan to the period up to 2036 (see below). The Plan 
has, however, not been withdrawn and therefore continues to be a material 
consideration. As the Plan and the policies contained within it are not being 
progressed in their current form, however, extremely limited weight can be 
attributed to it in the determination of this application. 

 
52. Within the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 the site 

continues to fall inside of the urban edge and within a designated town centre. 
The following policies within this Plan are of relevance to the application 
proposal: S1 (Sustainable development); S2 (New development), S3 (Location 
of new housing), S11 (Nature conservation), S12 (Heritage assets), DM1 
(General criteria for new development), DM2 (Environmentally sustainable 
development), DM4 (Flood Risk), DM5 (Sustainable surface water 
management and watercourse management), DM7 (Pollution), DM9 (Nature 
Conservation), DM20 (Changes of use in retail frontages in district and local 
centres), DM23 (General development criteria – transport), DM24 (Parking), 
DM28 (Affordable housing), DM29 (Internal space standards for residential 
development), DM32 (Provision of recreation and open space facilities with new 
development), DM37 (Funding infrastructure). 

 
53. As noted above, a new emerging development plan (the draft Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2016-2036) is currently being prepared and on the 11 
December 2017 the Council approved the draft plan for public consultation, 
subject to the finalising of the wording and content as well as the completion of 
technical studies, and the completion and updating of the evidence base. It is 
anticipated that the draft local plan will be out for consultation in Spring 2018. 
This plan is a material consideration in the determination of this application, 
however in light of its status, it is considered that only very limited weight can 
be attributed to it.  

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

54. The following supplementary planning documents are of relevance to the 
application: 

 

41



 Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009) 

 Biodiversity (December 2009) 

 Residential Parking Standards (January 2009) 

 Planning Obligations (July 2008, updated 2010) 

 Affordable Housing (July 2009) 
 

Other relevant documents 
 

 Public Art Strategy (2015) 

 Town Centres, Local Centres & Shopping Parades – Details of 
Occupancy Background Paper (September 2017) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework: 

 
55. At a national level, The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications.  

 
Planning Practice Guidance  

 
56. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration of 

planning applications. Whilst not an exhaustive list, the following sections are 
deemed to be of relevance to this application: air quality; design; determining a 
planning application; ensuring the vitality of town centres; flood risk; 
contamination; natural environment; noise; open space; planning obligations; 
travel plans, transport assessments and statements; tree preservation orders 
and trees in conservation areas; use of planning conditions; water supply, 
wastewater and water quality. 

 
Assessment of proposal:  

 
The Principle of Development 

 
57. The application site is located within the urban edge as well as forming part of 

the primary shopping zone of a designated district centre (Hedge End) as set 
out within the Council’s adopted local plan (the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review 2001-2011). The relevant policy provisions to the principle of 
development are therefore as follows.  
 

58. Saved Policy 71.H of the adopted local plan encourages mixed use 
developments where appropriate with the objectives of reducing the need to 
travel and introducing vitality into urban areas, whilst Saved Policy 72.H seeks 
to encourage high density development in sufficiently sustainable locations. In 
respect of town centre policies, the background paper for the local plan 
specifically identifies the part of the site containing the Budgens store building, 
along with the adjacent commercial units to its immediate western side, as 
constituting an area of poor design where the Council would particularly 
welcome redevelopment (Site F, Plan 42 – see paragraph 8.30 of the 

42



supporting text to the adopted local plan).  
 

59. In addition, Saved Policy 137.TC states that within the primary zones of the 
identified town and district centres, a change of use or redevelopment of a 
ground floor involving the loss of A1 retail floorspace will not be permitted if: it 
would result in the proportion of the total property frontage length in the primary 
zone not in A1 use exceeding 20%, or it would result in the loss of an A1 
premises of 200sqm (gross) or more.  
 

60. The application proposes a mixed use development within a town centre 
location, with this incorporating residential units at a high density (160.4 dph), 
as well as a range of commercial (A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5) and undefined non-
residential uses within Class D1. The present retail store has an existing gross 
floor space within the A1 use class of 1317sqm and the proposals would see 
this reduced to a maximum of 488.1sqm. This would result in a loss of 
828.9sqm which is far in excess of the 200sqm permitted by Saved Policy 
137.TC and indeed, on the basis of the wide range of uses applied for, there is 
the potential for the present A1 use to be lost entirely. Based on the Council’s 
most up to date occupancy figures (September 2017), the percentage of the 
frontage length in the primary shopping zone within non-A1 use is already in 
excess of 20% and, therefore, there is also the potential for this percentage to 
be further increased as a result of the development.  
 

61. Whilst the general principle of redevelopment on this site with a high density 
mixed use scheme is therefore considered to be acceptable, the particular 
proposals put forward are in the strictest terms contrary to Saved Policy 137.TC 
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011. The material effects of 
this upon the vitality and viability of Hedge End District Centre, along with the 
other economic, social and environmental impacts of the proposals are 
considered in the below sections of this report.  

 
The NPPF, sustainable development and five-year housing supply 

 
62. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is, as noted above, a 

significant material consideration in the decision making process. The NPPF 
states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development (Para. 6). Sustainable development is 
defined as containing three dimensions: economic, social and environmental 
(Para. 7) which should not be taken in isolation, because they are mutually 
dependent (Para. 8). The application proposals are therefore considered under 
each of these headings.  
 

63. Paragraph 14 sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
with Paragraph 197 requiring that in assessing and determining development 
proposals, local planning authorities should apply this presumption. In doing so, 
due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing local plans according 
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (Para. 215). 
 

64. For decision taking, the aforementioned presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, as set out in paragraph 14, means: 

43



 

 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay; and 

 Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-
date, granting permission unless: - any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.  

 
65. Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify a five-

year supply of deliverable housing sites, whilst paragraph 49 states that 
“housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing 
should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.”  
 

66. The Council’s latest published position statement (December 2017) sets out a 
supply of 5.3 years of deliverable housing sites within the Borough, in excess of 
the aforementioned required 5-year supply requirement of the NPPF.  

 
Economic sustainability and the impact on the vitality and viability of 
Hedge End District Centre 

 
67. One of the core planning principles of the NPPF is to proactively drive and 

support sustainable economic development to deliver amongst other things, the 
homes and thriving local places that the country needs (Para. 17). The 
Framework also reiterates the Government’s commitment to securing economic 
growth in order to create jobs and prosperity. Paragraph 23 specifically seeks 
to ensure that planning policies are positive and promote competitive town 
centre environments. This includes recognising town centres as the heart of 
communities and pursuing policies to support their vitality and viability; 
promoting competitive town centres that provide customer choice and a diverse 
retail offer and which reflect the individuality of town centres; and, recognising 
that residential development can play an important role in ensuring the vitality 
of centres and set out policies to encourage residential development on 
appropriate sites.  

 
68. The application site is a brownfield town centre site that consists of the former 

Budgens supermarket store which ceased trading in 2016. The site is therefore 
currently vacant and the proposals would see it being brought back into a form 
of active use. In addition, the development would also serve to introduce upper 
floor uses and activity in the form of residential properties which, as noted 
above, is encouraged by both National planning policy as well as Saved Policy 
141.TC of the adopted Local Plan. This is something which can assist in 
achieving a concentration of people within a town centre location and thereby 
has the potential to add vitality into centres, with future occupiers also being 
likely to support local services and facilities.  

 

44



69. The proposals would also provide for some other associated economic 
benefits. These include employment opportunities that would be created during 
the construction phase of the development, which would in turn result in a level 
of increased spending within the local economy, for example on materials, 
goods and other services. Ongoing employment opportunities could also be 
created within the future commercial/non-residential uses proposed as part of 
the development. Albeit, these would likely be reduced relative to those 
provided within the retail store previously present on the site due to what is a 
significant reduction in floor space as well as the nature of some of the potential 
proposed end uses which have lower employment densities than others.  

 
70. Whilst the above benefits are noted, they must however be balanced against 

what would be the significant reduction in A1 floorspace within a designated 
primary shopping zone. In addition to the provisions set out above, Paragraph 
23 of the NPPF stipulates that local planning authorities should define the 
extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, based on a clear definition 
of primary and secondary frontages in designated centres, and set policies that 
make clear which uses will be permitted in such locations.  

 
71. The application site falls within the primary shopping zone of Hedge End 

District Centre as defined within the Council’s adopted local plan with Saved 
Policy 137.TC seeking to maintain an active retail offer and prevent the 
significant and unjustified loss of A1 uses within this zone. This policy states 
that a change of use or redevelopment of a ground floor involving the loss of A1 
retail floorspace will not be permitted if: it would result in the proportion of the 
total property frontage length in the primary zone not in A1 use exceeding 20%, 
or it would result in the loss of an A1 premises of 200sqm (gross) or more. As 
noted in the principle section of this report, the proposals are contrary to this 
policy and would result in the loss of between 829.9 and 1317sqm of retail 
floorspace (gross) as well as having the potential to further reduce the level of 
A1 frontage length within the primary shopping zone.  
 

72. Whilst the existing Budgens store has ceased trading, it is not considered that 
this alone represents sufficient justification for such an extensive loss of A1 
floorspace. No evidence, marketing or otherwise, has been provided as part of 
the application to demonstrate that demand no longer exists for this level of A1 
use within this location or, indeed, that some of the proposed potential 
replacement uses could provide for sufficient benefit to the local centre to go 
towards the mitigating of this loss and, thereby, maintain or support its vitality 
and viability. 

 
73. The application seeks permission for what would be a flexible use of the 

proposed non-residential floorspace comprising of either A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 or 
D1 uses, or potentially any combination of these. Uses within these classes 
have varying impacts upon the vitality and viability of town centres. For 
example, A1 retail uses can provide an active frontage throughout the day and 
in some cases into the evening, and generate footfall and linked-trips for the 
centre. Other uses, such as hot-food takeaways (A5) or drinking establishments 
(A4) conversely may only be open in the evenings and therefore could result in 
a dead/inactive frontage being presented throughout the day on what is a 

45



prominent corner site within Hedge End centre. Similarly, with regards to Class 
D1, this incorporates a range of uses under the heading of non-residential 
institutions. Whilst these can include end occupiers such as health centre uses 
and libraries which it can be argued may have wider community benefits whilst 
also generating a degree of footfall, other uses within this class such as halls 
and places of worship may be in use for only limited periods during the week.  

 
74. Due to the wide range of possible end uses therefore and the lack of clarity 

provided in this regard, as well as the lack of substantive evidence to justify 
what would be a significant loss of A1 retail floorspace within a designated 
primary shopping zone, it is considered that the proposals would have an 
adverse impact upon the vitality and viability of Hedge End centre and that this 
impact would not be outweighed by the economic benefits identified. The 
application is therefore considered to be contrary to Saved Policy 137.TC of the 
adopted Local Plan and the provisions of Paragraph 23 of the NPPF and would 
not, therefore, be economically sustainable.  

 
 Social Sustainability 
 
75. The social role of sustainability includes providing the supply of housing 

required to meet the needs of present and future generations in line with the 
NPPF’s aspiration to “deliver a wide choice of high quality homes in inclusive 
and mixed communities to meet the needs of different people” (paragraph 50). 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that local authorities maintain a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing to meet their housing targets. As set out above, 
the Council is currently able to meet this requirement and demonstrate a supply 
in excess of the required five-years (5.3 years).  
 

76. Nonetheless, the proposals would provide for up to an additional 77no. open-
market residential units. In the context of the Council already being able to 
demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply of deliverable housing sites to meet 
the needs of the Borough however and, significantly, the proposals not making 
provision for any affordable housing, it is considered that this is a social benefit 
of only limited weight in the consideration of the application. It must also be 
noted, that such a social benefit could also be achieved from a residential 
development of this size in a different location.  

 
Environmental Sustainability 

 
77. The size and location of the application site is such that there are a number of 

environmental sustainability considerations and impacts that need to be taken 
into account. These include: 

 

 The layout, design and impact of the development on the character of 
the area  

 Residential amenity  

 Noise and odour impacts 

 Trees 

 Contaminated land 

 Archaeology 

46



 Nature conservation interests  

 Foul and surface water drainage 

 Transport matters, highway safety and accessibility 

 Sustainability measures 
 

These matters are discussed in detail below.  
 

Layout, design and impact of the development on the character of the area: 
 
78. Saved Policy 59.BE requires that development takes full and proper account of 

the context of the site including the character and appearance of the locality 
and that it is appropriate in a number of regards including its massing, scale, 
layout, design, siting and density. This local plan policy is considered to be 
consistent with the NPPF. In particular: paragraph 17 which sets out the core 
planning principles that should underpin decision taking, including that planning 
should “take account of the different role and character of different areas, 
promoting the vitality of our main urban areas”; and, Section 7 Requiring good 
design, which states that “Permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions” (Paragraph 64); 
 

79. As noted at the outset of this report, the application is in outline form with all 
matters reserved. Nonetheless, in seeking to establish the principle of the 
development for which permission is sought, it is necessary for sufficient detail 
to be provided to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
that the site can accommodate the level and nature of the development 
proposed in a satisfactory manner which does not, inter alia, result in 
unacceptable harm to the character of the area. In this regard the application is 
supported by a range of indicative plans which seek to establish parameters for 
development and demonstrate one way in which the proposals may be carried 
out on the site.  
 

80. These plans show two separate blocks of development, comprising of a four-
storey mixed-use building on the corner of Upper Northam Road and Wildern 
Lane in place of the current supermarket store, as well as a solely residential 
block situated within what is presently the car park area to the north which 
would be up to 5-storeys in height. These buildings are shown to be flat roof in 
nature and of a contemporary design and appearance. 
 

81. In respect of the development on the corner first of all, as noted above the 
present store forms part of a site identified within the adopted local plan as 
being an area of poor design where the Council would particularly welcome 
redevelopment (Site F, Plan 42). The supporting text for the town centre 
policies, within paragraph 8.29, sets out that development should enhance and 
add vitality to the centre by providing a varied and interesting design and that 
key corner sites should create local landmark buildings which help to give the 
centre a distinctive identity.  
 

82. Whilst the Local Planning Authority would seek to encourage a more 
comprehensive approach to redevelopment to be taken, to include the adjacent 

47



uses as identified in the aforementioned Plan 42, it is considered that in 
principle the site of the existing store has the capacity to accommodate a 
building of a greater height and scale than the present supermarket which 
suitably addresses the street scene, even if this was to be developed in 
isolation. This is subject to the final detailed form and appearance of any such 
building however being appropriate, with this being something in itself that 
could be addressed at reserved matters stage. In this regard, there is also no 
objection to a more contemporary approach being taken in terms of the design 
of buildings with there being no notable overriding architectural style within the 
present Hedge End centre which such development would necessarily be 
encouraged to seek to replicate.  
 

83. There are, however, significant concerns in respect of the overall level of 
development that is proposed and the extent, scale and height of the buildings 
that this would necessitate across the site as a whole. In particular, there are 
notable reservations in relation to the building shown to be proposed to the rear 
of the site. This building would be substantial in height with the majority of its 
extent being comprised of 4 and 5 storeys and it having a length of 
approximately 81m such that it would see the overwhelming majority of the 
western section of the current car park developed, with the building also being 
situated hard-up against the boundary with Greta Park. It is considered that the 
combined scale, footprint and the position of the structure, when viewed in the 
context of the narrow nature of this section of the site, as well as the close 
proximity of surrounding buildings, would result in a particularly cramped 
arrangement and what would be a gross overdevelopment of the site in both 
physical and visual terms.  
 

84. Because of this context and the sheer extent of the building, the structure would 
be eminently visually apparent from both Wildern Lane and, significantly, from 
Upper Northam Road where it would provide somewhat of an overbearing 
backdrop to, and be viewed against, the notably lower profile structures within 
this street scene on what is an important approach into Hedge End centre. It 
would also serve to significantly dominate views from the adjacent Greta Park 
given its length, height and physical proximity. To this effect, the block would 
appear as a particularly incongruous and visually obtrusive form of backland 
development from its surroundings and one which would have a detrimental 
impact upon the character of the area.  

 
85. For the reasons given, therefore, and on the basis of the resulting harm 

identified, it is considered that the proposals fail to demonstrate that the site 
could be developed for the nature and level of development proposed without 
unacceptable detriment to the character and visual amenity of the locality and 
to this extent are considered to represent an inappropriate overdevelopment of 
the site. The application is therefore considered to be contrary to Saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan, as well as the provisions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
  

48



Residential amenity  
 

86. Saved Policy 59.BE (vii.) of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 
avoids unduly interfering, disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses, 
in a range of manners including through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, and the impacts of noise, dust and fumes. This policy is considered to 
be consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework; with Paragraph 17 
of the NPPF setting out that planning should always seek to secure a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
In this respect, therefore, there are two primary considerations, these being the 
ensuring of an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the 
development, and the impact of the proposals upon the amenity of the 
occupiers of existing neighbouring properties. In this regard, the Council’s 
Quality Places SPD provides design guidance in relation to a range of matters 
including residential amenity and outlines a variety of standards for new 
development in regards to issues such as privacy, daylight and sunlight, and 
minimum amenity space dimensions.  
 

87. In terms of the future occupiers of the development first of all. The Quality 
Places SPD sets out that in respect of flats, communal amenity space should 
be provided, the level of which should be determined by local context, although 
as a guide, a minimum of 25sqm of amenity space per dwelling should be 
provided. However, where a flatted development is directly adjacent to a 
useable recreation space, the SPD states that this requirement may be waived. 
In light of the proximity of Greta Park, therefore, which borders the site and 
comprises a relatively extensive area of open space, it is considered that 
communal external amenity space is not required to serve the development. 
Notwithstanding this, balconies are shown to be provided to serve some of the 
flats and these would be integrated into the design of the buildings, to provide 
at least a degree of unit-specific outdoor sitting space. In addition, the indicative 
floor plans show that an appropriate level of internal floor space could be 
provided for each unit and that there would be reasonable potential for an 
appropriate level of daylight to be received for habitable rooms.  
 

88. There are, however, notable concerns regarding the impact of the development 
on the amenity of existing neighbouring occupiers, with these being specifically 
in relation to the residential block that is proposed at the rear of the site. This 
block would be substantial in both scale and height, with it being between 4 and 
5 storeys for much of its extent and spanning approximately 81m in length in 
what is particularly close proximity to the shared boundary with Ascot Place to 
the east. These factors, when combined, are considered to result in a 
development which would be adversely overbearing and, due to its sheer 
physical extent, one which would have an oppressive visual impact and cause 
a significant loss of outlook for the residents of Ascot Place, a block of flats of a 
lesser overall height, scale and length, and which has both habitable windows 
across its facing elevation as well as an area of communal amenity space 
situated to its western side. Whilst noting that a modest proportion of the central 
section of the proposed block is shown to be reduced in height to seek to 
lessen such impacts, it is not considered that this would be in any way sufficient 

49



to address this issue.  
 

89. There are also significant reservations in respect of the matter of the impact of 
this proposed block upon the privacy of the occupiers of Ascot Place, as well as 
to a degree, those of the neighbouring dwellings to the immediate north of this 
along Wildern Lane. In this regard, the Council’s Quality Places SPD sets out 
minimum distances between facing habitable windows on the non-public side. 
For houses, this is 22m at first floor level, with the distance increasing by 5m for 
each additional storey. For apartments, however, the guidance stipulates that 
where these look onto other apartments, separated exclusively by public or 
communal space, they should be the minimum distance apart. In all cases, 
however, it is necessary to also consider the particular context and nature of a 
development when assessing this issue.  
 

90. The proposed block is formed of residential apartments which, internally, are 
separated by corridors running north to south within the building. Those to the 
eastern side of each floor are, in some cases, shown to be single aspect in this 
direction with all of them, even where they are dual aspect, having windows on 
the building’s eastern elevation. The submitted parameter plans show that the 
development would have a minimum separation distance of 22m from these 
windows to the habitable windows of Ascot Place. Such would be the extent of 
the proliferation of fenestration across this side of the building however, given 
its substantial length and significant relative height as noted above, that both 
the actual and, significantly, the perceived level of overlooking for the occupiers 
of the neighbouring residential properties would result in their privacy being 
unacceptably impinged, to the detriment of their residential amenity. 

 
91. For the reasons given, therefore, the proposals are considered to fail to 

demonstrate that the site could be developed for the nature and level of 
development proposed without an unacceptably detrimental resulting impact 
upon the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, by 
way of overbearing impact as well as both loss of outlook and privacy. To this 
extent, the proposals are contrary to Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local 
Plan and the provisions of Paragraph 17 of the NPPF.  

 
Noise and odour impacts 

 
92. Saved Policy 30.ES of the adopted Local Plan states that proposals for noise-

sensitive development, including residential uses, which would result in the 
occupiers of such development being exposed to unacceptably high levels of 
noise will not be permitted. Saved Policy 142.TC relates specifically to 
proposals for A3, A4 or A5 uses and states that they will only be permitted 
where they meet all of the following criteria: there are no residential units or 
other odour-sensitive premises which be detrimentally affected by the proposal 
due to their close proximity and / or local conditions; where appropriate, the 
proposal makes adequate and acceptable provision for neutralising odours and 
controlling noise; and, the proposal makes adequate provision for the disposal, 
storage and collection of waste.  
 

50



93. These policies are considered to be consistent with Paragraphs 17 and 109 of 
the NPPF which respectively require that planning should always seek a good 
standard of amenity for existing and future occupiers of land and buildings, and 
that the planning system should prevent new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, amongst other things, unacceptable levels of noise or air pollution. 
 

94. The proposals incorporate a range of commercial and non-residential uses 
within classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and D1 which will be situated immediately 
below proposed residential apartments, as well as being adjacent to both 
existing and proposed residential uses. There are also existing hot food 
takeaways within the near vicinity. The Council’s Head of Environmental Health 
has raised a number of concerns in regards the wide range of uses applied for 
and the lack of supporting information that has been provided in respect of their 
potential impacts upon the amenity of residential occupiers notably in terms of 
noise and odours. These concerns include in relation to the potential for 
disturbance to result from deliveries to commercial uses, noise generation from 
music within possible A4 (drinking establishment) and some D1 (non-residential 
institutions) uses, disturbance from late night uses including hot-food 
takeaways (A5) and drinking establishments (A4), and odour abatement issues 
from hot-food takeaways in particular and, to a lesser extent, from possible A3 
(cafes/restaurants) uses in light of the proposed provision of high-buildings with 
residential receptors above. 
 

95. Whilst recognising that the application is in outline form, it is considered 
necessary that a sufficient level of detail is provided at this stage to justify that 
the uses for which permission has been sought would be appropriate for the 
locality and could, thereby, be suitably accommodated without unacceptable 
detriment to the amenity of the occupiers of both the proposed as well as 
existing neighbouring properties. In the absence of any such information, it is 
considered that the application is contrary to Saved Policies 59.BE and 142.TC 
of the adopted local plan and Paragraphs 17 and 109 of the NPPF. 

 
Trees 

 
96. Saved Policy 59.BE (i.) of the adopted Local Plan requires that development is 

appropriate both in itself as well as in relation to natural features and trees 
worthy of retention. The area to the northern extent of the application site is 
subject to a woodland tree preservation order (TPO 674) which covers all tree 
species. As this stage the application does not include the removal of any of 
these trees and indicates that they would be retained as part of any subsequent 
detailed scheme. The Council’s Tree Officer has assessed the proposals from 
an arboricultural perspective and is satisfied with this approach subject to a 
condition requiring the submission of a detailed arboricultural statement as part 
of any subsequent reserved matters application. There is therefore considered 
to be no conflict with Saved Policy 59.BE (i.) in respect of the impact of the 
development upon protected trees.   

 
  

51



Contaminated land 
 
97. Saved Policy 35.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that it be demonstrated 

that land that is known or suspected to be contaminated will be remediated to a 
suitable standard for the proposed end use. This requirement is considered to 
be consistent with those of Paragraphs 109 and 121 of the NPPF which 
stipulate that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural 
environment through remediating and mitigating contaminated land and that 
decisions should ensure that sites are suitable for their new use(s), taking 
account of ground conditions and former activities. 
 

98. The site is previously developed land with it being comprised of a supermarket 
store and extensive areas of hardstanding and the development proposal 
incorporates sensitive end uses in the form of residential apartments. No 
information has been submitted with the application to assess the ground 
conditions or potential sources of contamination and usually the Local Planning 
Authority would expect at least a desk-top assessment to have been provided 
in this regard. In this case, however, the Council’s Head of Environmental has 
considered the proposals and the site context and has advised that the matter 
of land contamination could adequately be covered by way of planning 
conditions. Such conditions would require the undertaking of a site 
investigation, and where necessitated, the subsequent remediation of any 
sources of contamination that are found and the verification of this thereafter.  
 
Archaeology  

 
99. Saved Policies 167.LB and 168.LB of the adopted Local Plan seek to ensure 

the preservation of archaeological features and remains and where necessary 
require appropriate investigatory and evaluation measures to be carried out as 
part of development proposals. These requirements are considered to be 
consistent with those of Paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which sets out that where a site on which development is proposed 
includes or has the potential to include a heritage asset(s) with archaeological 
interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an 
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, undertake a field 
evaluation.  
 

100. The proposals have been considered by Hampshire County Council’s 
Archaeologist who has raised no objection in respect of archaeological matters 
and as such, no further investigatory works or conditional requirements would 
be deemed to be required. There is therefore no conflict with the 
aforementioned local and national planning policy provisions in this regard.  

 
Nature conservation interests 

 

Internationally designated interests: 
 
101. The site is within 5.6km of the Solent and Southampton Water Special 

Protection Area (SPA) and will lead to an increase in residential 
accommodation and, as such, recreational pressure on the SPA. As highlighted 

52



by the Council’s Biodiversity Officer, due to the impact of visitor disturbance on 
migratory birds in particular, there is a risk that birds can lose condition and be 
unable to migrate at the end of the winter season. To ensure that the impact of 
new housing in the SPA protection area is mitigated, the Solent Recreation 
Mitigation Partnership has been created and a strategy formulated to manage 
visitors in a sensitive area. This strategy requires that developers make a 
financial contribution on a per dwelling basis, towards its implementation and 
delivery. 
 

102. Both Natural England and the Council’s Biodiversity Officer have raised no 
objections to the application subject to this contribution being made. This has, 
however, not been secured and as such the impacts of the development in this 
regard have not been suitably mitigated. Whilst the applicant has submitted a 
Financial Viability Assessment (see the below section on Planning Obligations 
for further details on this), Paragraph 176 of the NPPF is clear that “where 
safeguards are necessary to make a particular development acceptable in 
planning terms … the development should not be approved if the measures 
cannot be secured through appropriate conditions or agreements”. The 
required contributions towards the aforementioned mitigation strategy are 
deemed to meet these criteria and, therefore, this matter will form an additional 
reason for refusal.   
 

103. In addition to the impacts upon the Solent and Southampton Water Special 
Protection Area (SPA), the Council’s Biodiversity Officer has highlighted that 
the development may have the potential to also impact upon the Natura 2000 
and Ramsar network due to the presence of the Wildern Stream in the locality, 
with this being a tributary of the River Hamble. In order to ensure that the 
development does not result in the pollution of this stream and potentially the 
European protected sites, it is necessary for sufficient and satisfactory detail in 
respect of a strategy for managing surface water to be provided at this stage. 
The proposed surface water drainage provisions, including in relation to this 
ecological impact, are considered in more detail in the section on drainage 
further below.  

 
Protected species  

 
104. Saved Policy 25.NC of the adopted Local Plan states that development which 

will adversely affect a habitat or feature of importance for wild fauna and flora 
will not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 
Council that: (i) the benefits of the development outweigh the adverse impacts 
(ii) the adverse impacts are unavoidable, and (iii) appropriate measures are 
taken which would mitigate or compensate for any adverse impact. This policy 
is considered to be consistent with the provisions of Paragraphs 109 and 118 of 
the NPPF which require that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity. 
 

105. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and a Bat 
Survey Report which assess the ecological value of the site, seek to identify 
signs of protected species and potential features that may support them, and 
makes recommendations in respect of requirements for any further survey work 

53



or associated mitigation. These surveys set out that no setts or evidence of 
badger activity was observed, no invasive species were recorded within the site 
boundary and that there were no ponds within suitable proximity to indicate that 
amphibians such as great crested newts would be present on site. In addition, 
the potential for bats to occur and significant impacts to arise during 
construction works was considered to be negligible and, whilst the hedgerows 
provide broadly suitable habitat for dormice, reptiles and nesting birds in the 
appropriate season, the likelihood of each species being present was 
considered to be low.  
 

106. Recommendations have, however, been made for any hedgerow removal as 
well as the soft strip of the supermarket building to be undertaken under an 
ecological watching brief. The Council’s Ecologist has considered the submitted 
information and confirmed that she concurs with the findings of the survey and 
the recommendations put forward, with a condition being recommended to be 
imposed in the latter regard. There is therefore considered to be no conflict with 
the relevant local and national planning policy provisions in relation to protected 
species.  

 
Foul and surface water drainage  

 
107. Saved Policy 45.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 

provides for adequate drainage infrastructure. In addition, Saved Policy 25.NC 
stipulates that development which would adversely affect biodiversity will not be 
permitted unless it is demonstrated that the benefits of the development 
outweigh the adverse impacts, the adverse impacts are unavoidable, and 
appropriate measures are taken which would mitigate or compensate for any 
adverse impacts. This includes in relation to drainage and the potential for the 
pollution of designated sites as a result of inadequate surface water provisions.  
 

108. With regards to the matter of foul drainage/sewerage, Southern Water has 
been consulted on the application. They have confirmed that, following initial 
investigations, they cannot currently accommodate the needs of the 
development without additional local infrastructure being provided. They have 
also highlighted that the development would be built over sewers based on the 
indicative plans provided and that the proposals incorporate a pumping station 
close to an existing building. As such, they have advised that they would not be 
prepared to adopt the sewers if constructed in the format shown and that, 
should the developer wish for the pumping station to be adopted, this would 
need to meet their relevant stipulated specifications.  

 
109. Whilst noting the lack of capacity in the foul drainage network, there are 

mechanisms and separate legislative provisions (Section 98 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991) for the requesting of appropriate foul drainage infrastructure 
which are available to the developer such as to provide the required capacity to 
accommodate the development. These fall outside of the planning process and 
it would be for the developer to enter into the relevant agreement with Southern 
Water, as the sewerage undertaker, in order to secure this. In addition, there is 
no obligation for sewers or associated pumping stations to be put forward for 
adoption by Southern Water. As such, it is not considered that the matters 

54



raised in relation to foul drainage could form a justifiable reason for the refusal 
of planning permission in this case and, indeed, Southern Water have 
confirmed that they are satisfied that this matter could be addressed through 
the use of planning conditions.  

 
110. There are some concerns, however, in regards to surface water drainage. The 

strategy provided proposes the discharging of surface water from the 
development into the existing surface water sewer network, with the location of 
the existing storm water outfall or discharge point being stated to be assumed 
to be to the east of the site within or adjacent to Wildern Lane.  

 
111. Southern Water have highlighted that there is insufficient information currently 

available to confirm if surface water sewer capacity is available and further 
investigations of the downstream sewerage network are required to confirm 
this. In addition, Hampshire County Council as the local lead flood authority 
have highlighted that a range of further information in regards to surface water 
is required which includes existing drainage plans, calculations of run-off rates 
and levels, maintenance details, and notably and importantly evidence that the 
developer understands the sensitivity of the discharge points to the receiving 
water body. This latter point is something that has also been highlighted by the 
Council’s Biodiversity Officer in their consultation response on the proposals in 
the context of the necessity to ensure that the development does not result in 
the unacceptable pollution of the local river network which could ultimately 
thereby impact upon the Natura 2000 and Ramsar network. As such, they have 
advised that the discharge point/arrangements should be established before 
any planning permission is granted.  

 
112. The Council, as the responsible body for Habitats Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) must ensure as part of a planning application that, inter alia, a 
development will not have an adverse impact on the aforementioned European 
protected sites due to a deterioration in water quality. It is necessary therefore 
for sufficient information in regard to operational surface water drainage to be 
provided at this stage to ensure that it can be both accommodated on site and 
would be of a suitable nature. In the absence of the identified required 
additional details and clarification, the local planning authority is unable to 
undertake the requisite HRA screening for the application.  

 
113. Taking account of the above factors and in the absence of the required 

information to demonstrate otherwise, it would not be possible to ensure that 
the scheme could be drained in a satisfactory manner with regards to surface 
water. The proposals are therefore in conflict with the requirements of Saved 
Policies 25.NC and 45.ES of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 118 of the 
NPPF.  
 
Transport matters and highway safety 

 
114. The NPPF sets out that development should be located and designed where 

practical to, amongst other things, give priority to pedestrian and cycle 
movements, have access to high quality transport facilities, and to create safe 
and secure layouts which minimise conflict between traffic and cyclists or 

55



pedestrians (paragraph 35). It also requires that planning decisions take 
account of whether safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
people and that development should only be prevented or refused on transport 
grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe 
(paragraph 32). These requirements are considered to be consistent with those 
of Saved Policies 59.BE, 100.T, 101.T and 102.T of the adopted Local Plan. In 
addition, Saved Policy 104.T requires the provision of an appropriate level of 
on-site car parking in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.  

 

115. The application is supported by a Transport Statement which considers the 
impact that the development would have upon the local highway network, 
appraises parking requirements, and considers the accessibility of the site by 
sustainable modes of travel.  

 

Traffic impacts 
 

116. In terms of the traffic impact of the proposals, the aforementioned statement 
undertakes a comparative analysis between the existing trip rate generation 
associated with the current supermarket store (when open), against the trip 
rates for the proposed mixed use development in order to determine the impact 
on the highway network. This assessment demonstrates that the proposals 
would result in a slight net reduction in two-way traffic movements during peak 
periods, with 14 less trips during the weekday PM peak hour (1700-1800), and 
19 less trips during the Saturday peak hour (1200-1300). The highway authority 
have considered the submitted details, which are based on the trips rates 
derived from the national TRICS database, and have confirmed that they have 
no objection to the proposals in this respect, with the anticipated reduction in 
traffic being recognised to constitute a highway benefit moving forwards.  
 

117. Saved Policy 102.T of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-
2011 requires that development proposals which generate additional traffic 
should contribute towards highway improvements such as to offset the impact 
of the development on the local highway network. As the proposals would not 
increase trip rates relative to the existing situation, it is considered that no 
sustainable transport contributions are required in respect of the application. 

 

Site access 
 

118. In terms of the vehicular access to the site, whilst the exact detail of the layout 
and design of this would be reserved for a later stage, the indicative drawings 
provided show that the current access which serves the site from Wildern Lane 
would be maintained to serve the development. The highway authority has 
raised no objection to this aspect of the proposals, with the present access 
conforming to current standards. There is therefore considered to be adequate 
potential for suitable access to be achieved. 
 
Parking, internal layout and site accessibility by sustainable modes of travel 

 
119. The Council’s parking requirements for residential uses are set out within the 

adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Residential Parking Standards’ 

56



(adopted 2009). Those for commercial uses were previously based upon the 
HCC parking guidance which was withdrawn in April 2013 and the Council are 
currently in the process of producing a revised SPD in this respect, although 
this is yet to be adopted. Parking for commercial uses is therefore presently 
assessed on a case by case basis. 
 

120. In respect of the residential element of the development first of all, the 
aforementioned adopted SPD requires that properties of 1, 2 or 3 bedrooms, as 
in the case of the indicative mix proposed, provide 2 spaces per property where 
these are allocated or, in instances where more than 50% of spaces are 
unallocated, 1 space per unit for 1 bedroom properties and 1.5 spaces per unit 
for 2 or 3 bedroom dwellings. The development proposes the use of 
unallocated parking and suggests an indicative mix of 17no. 1-bedroom, 56no. 
2-bedroom, and 4no. 3-bedroom apartments. On this basis, the required 
parking provision would be 107 car parking spaces, plus a further 20% uplift for 
visitors (an additional 22 spaces) comprised of 15 formally laid out and 7 in 
informal non-obstructive locations. In this case, and as noted by the highway 
authority, the informal spaces could clearly not be accommodated due to the 
nature of the layout, however, even without these, the total requirement for the 
residential uses would be 122 spaces. 
 

121. In regards to the commercial element of the proposals, this has been 
considered on the basis of the 488sqm of floorspace applied for, with an end 
use which could incorporate food sales. The highway authority have, using the 
previous HCC standards as a guide, suggested that an appropriate standard 
would in this case therefore equate to 1 space per 14sqm, giving a requirement 
of 35 spaces for the commercial element. This, in addition to the 
aforementioned residential need, brings the total minimum required spaces to 
157.  
 

122. The scheme, however, only proposes the provision of a total of 110 spaces to 
cover both uses and as such represents a shortfall of 47 spaces or 30% of the 
overall requirement. There is also a lack of clarity concerning how these spaces 
would be managed in terms of the differentiation between residential and 
commercial users which, as noted by the Highway Authority, could cause 
significant issues if either specific use had a shortfall.  
 

123. Whilst the submitted Transport Statement includes a parking assessment to 
seek to justify that this reduced level of parking would provide for sufficient 
capacity, this assessment assumes that all apartments will have only 1 vehicle, 
something which is stated to be based upon the data contained within the 2011 
Census. This Census data, however, sets out that only 55% of households 
within the Hedge End Wildern Ward have 1 vehicle or less and as such nearly 
45% have 2 or more. For the Hedge End St Johns Ward, the boundary of which 
is to the opposing side of Upper Northam Road to the site, the latter figure is 
approximately 50%. On this basis and taking account of the fact that more than 
three-quarters of the seventy-seven units applied for (60) have two-bedrooms 
or more, this assumption is in this case considered to be one which is 
unreasonable. 
 

57



124. Whilst acknowledging that the site lies within a relatively sustainable location, 
being situated within a district centre location where there are certain facilities 
available to its future occupiers and moderate connectivity by sustainable 
modes of travel, it is not considered that this level of sustainability is sufficient 
to allow for such a shortfall in parking provision relative to the Council’s adopted 
standards. Indeed, the Council’s adopted Residential Parking Standards SPD 
sets out (in paragraph 3.3) that, with the exception of Eastleigh Town Centre 
which has a much wider range of facilities and enjoys extensive rail and bus 
connectivity, the required standards are to be applied borough wide. As the 
highway authority have advised and as has been reflected within some of the 
neighbour representations received, this is also an area in which parking issues 
have previously been reported in surrounding streets and one which is devoid 
of public carparks which could be utilised by future residents for alternative 
parking.  
 

125. In light of this shortfall and the context of the site, therefore, the highway 
authority has raised concerns that overflow parking could be pushed out onto 
the public highway and surrounding streets and result in parking at access 
junctions that causes loss of visibility, on footways that obstructs pedestrian 
movement, etc. and thereby unacceptably compromise highway safety in the 
locality.  

 
126. In addition to the shortfall in parking provision, a lack of information has been 

provided to demonstrate that the requisite storage for a minimum of 77 cycles 
(1 per unit) could be accommodated within the development and also how 
refuse vehicles would service the site in respect of the ensuring of an 
appropriate internal layout whereby such vehicles could both enter and exit the 
site in a forward gear. This is something that is deemed to be essential in this 
instance given the proximity of the access to the junctions of Wildern Lane and 
Lower Northam Road and the car park serving the retail stores to the east. 
Additional tracking drawings have been requested in this regard but these have 
not been supplied.  

 
127. Taking account of these factors, it is considered that the proposals fail to 

demonstrate that an adequate level of on-site car parking and cycle storage as 
well as an appropriate internal layout could be provided to serve the 
development and as such ensure that highway safety in the locality would not 
be unacceptably compromised. In this regard, the proposals are therefore 
contrary to the requirements of Saved Policies, 59.BE and 104.T of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and Paragraph 32 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Sustainable construction measures 

                                   
128. The NPPF (paragraphs 95-99) and Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the 

adopted local plan, require development to be sustainable in terms of climate 
change use and resource and energy use. In March 2015, a Ministerial 
Statement announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes would cease to be 
applied to new development, although the requirement to achieve the Code’s 
levels for energy efficiency and water consumption remains. If permission were 

58



to be granted any future reserved matters application would have to meet the 
relevant energy and water standards.  

 
Planning obligations considerations 

 
129. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved Policies 

25.NC, 74.H, 147.OS, 165.TA and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Review (2001-2011), the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD, and 
the requirements of Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations, there is a requirement for developers’ contributions to ensure on 
and off-site provision for facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the 
development, or to mitigate against any increased need/pressure on existing 
facilities. This is in addition to the requisite on-site provision of affordable 
housing. 
 

130. The proposed development based upon its scale and nature would, in line with 
the aforementioned policy provisions, attract requirements for planning 
obligations / developer contributions towards community infrastructure, 
education, off-site public open space, public art, and the Solent Recreation 
Mitigation Partnership. This is in addition to the requirement of Saved Policy 
74.H for 35% on-site affordable housing provision, which would be reduced 
marginally with the application of the Vacant Building Credit (to 27.7% 
affordable or 21 units). The applicant has, however, submitted that the 
development would be unviable with the levels of developer contributions and 
affordable housing required. 
 

131. The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 173) sets out that 
“pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and 
costs in plan-making and decision taking” and that “to ensure viability, the costs 
of any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements 
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other 
requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development 
and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable.” Paragraph 176 of the 
NPPF goes on to state, however, that “where safeguards are necessary to 
make a particular development acceptable in planning terms … the 
development should not be approved if the measures required cannot be 
secured through appropriate conditions or agreements”. 
 

132. Where viability is an issue on individual schemes, the Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) states that “applicants should submit evidence on scheme 
viability where obligations are under consideration”. In this regard, the applicant 
has provided a Financial Viability Assessment as part of the application 
process. This assessment establishes the Gross Development Value (GDV) for 
the scheme (i.e. the total sales value) and measures it against the scheme’s 
costs, including profit, to establish a Residual Development Value (RDV) and, 
as such, the viability of the scheme. The appraisal concludes that the 
development would be unviable with the level of obligations and affordable 
housing outlined above and, on this basis, the developer has proposed that no 
affordable housing would be provided and no contributions in respect of the 

59



requisite planning obligations would be made. 
 

133. Best practice is that such appraisals are reviewed independently by a suitably 
qualified professional to establish their validity and allow the local planning 
authority to fully consider their implications. The applicant has not confirmed 
their agreement to this independent review and as the evidence submitted has 
not been verified, the local planning authority cannot therefore fully appraise its 
implications upon the infrastructure and planning obligations requirements 
deemed to be necessitated by the proposed scheme. Notwithstanding this, and 
whilst acknowledging that the existing use value (EUV) of the site, which 
comprises a supermarket store and an associated area of extensive car 
parking, would in general terms have some likely implications on the viability of 
its redevelopment, it is considered to be unacceptable that a development of 
the scale and level proposed would provide for no affordable housing or 
developer contributions which are deemed to be necessary to mitigate for its 
impact upon local services and infrastructure. It is considered that this is 
something which is afforded material weight in the determination of the 
application as a disbenefit of the proposals, particularly in the context of a 
development which has a number of other unacceptable impacts as set out 
within this report.  
 

134. As the required affordable housing and other planning obligations deemed to 
be required to mitigate for the impact of the development have not been 
secured as part of the application, and in the absence of sufficiently verified 
evidence to substantiate the stated viability position and justify any reduction in 
these, the application is deemed to be contrary to the aforementioned local and 
national planning policies and associated guidance and this matter will 
therefore form an additional reason for the refusal of planning permission.  

 
Conclusion 

 
135. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

136. As set out above, the proposals are considered to fail to demonstrate that the 
site could be developed for the level of development and nature of the uses for 
which permission is sought without detrimental impact resulting to the character 
of the area, the vitality and viability of the local centre, or the amenity of both 
existing and future occupiers of residential properties. They also fail to 
demonstrate that an appropriate surface water drainage scheme could be 
provided, as well as an adequate level of car parking, cycle storage, and an 
appropriate on-site layout for vehicles. In addition, the identified level of 
planning obligations and affordable housing provision has not been made to 
mitigate the impacts of the development upon local infrastructure, or sufficiently 
verified information provided to justify any reduction of these.  
 

137. It is acknowledged that the development would deliver some social and 
economic benefits, including the bringing back into use of a currently vacant 

60



town centre site, the provision of employment opportunities during the 
construction and to a more modest degree the operational phase of the 
development, and the provision of 77 units of open market residential 
accommodation. The latter is, however, afforded only limited weight in light of 
the Council already being able to currently demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites, and in both cases these benefits are not considered 
to be sufficient to outweigh the harm identified and, as such, the proposals are 
not considered to constitute sustainable development.  
 

138. For the reasons given, therefore, the application fails to accord with the 
requirements of Saved Policies 25.NC, 45.ES, 59.BE, 74.H, 104.T, 137.TC, 
142.TC, 147.OS, 165.TA and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review 2001-2011 and, are therefore contrary to the development plan 
and are also in conflict with the relevant corresponding sections of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

139. It is, therefore, recommended that outline planning permission be refused.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61



 
 

 

62



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 
22 January 2018. 
 
Application 
Number: 

 
RM/17/81628 

Case Officer: Liz Harrison 
Received Date: 02 October 2017 
Site Address: Land to the north west of Boorley Green, SO32 2BX 
Applicant: Miller Homes Ltd and Gleeson Developments Ltd 
Proposal: Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline planning 

permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for Phase 1 scheme 
equating to 301 residential dwellings with associated parking, 
road infrastructure, landscaping, open space, surface water 
drainage networks, on-site waste water treatment works, 
provision of additional vehicular parking for Hedge End 
Railway Station and bus only connection to Shamblehurst 
Lane North 
 

Recommendation:   
 
Subject to : 
 

i) satisfactory receipt of amended plans / additional information and 
completion of consultations; 

ii) satisfactory resolution of any additional mitigation against any adverse 
impact on the Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area 
(SPA), Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and River 
Itchen SAC and River Test Site of Special Scientific Interest, if required; 
and 

iii) any necessary condition additions or amendments, including updating 
the list of approved drawings. 

 
then delegate to Head of Development Management, in consultation with Chair 
and Vice-Chair of HEWEB Local Area Committee to  
 
APPROVE THE RESERVED MATTERS 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 

with the plans listed on the Drawing Register dated XXX, with the 
exception of drawings XXX. 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 

63

Agenda Item 12



(2) No development shall take place until details of the measures to protect 
the public sewers located within the site have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of protecting the public sewers. 

 
(3) Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plans, no development 

above slab level shall take place within each character area until details 
of the proposed hard surfacing materials, including type and colour, and 
large scale details of the interface between the different materials have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The submission shall also include details of how any parking 
spaces are to be demarcated and numbered.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 

 
(4) Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development above slab level 

shall take place within each character area until details of the proposed 
bin collection points, with sufficient space for 2 bins per dwelling using 
the collection point, have been submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety. 
 

(5) No development above slab level shall take place within each character 
area until large-scale details [at a scale of 1:50, or as agreed] of all 
types of boundary treatments, porches, dormer windows, bay windows, 
blind windows, window surrounds, balconies, barn hips, car port 
window railings and chimneys have been submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These details shall include 
details of materials to be used in the construction of these features and 
include details of any openings within the perimeter estate railings.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area.  

 
(6) No development above slab level shall take place within each character 

area until details of the colour of the front doors has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 

 

64



(7) No development above slab level shall take place within each character 
area until details of the pedestrian gates to be installed in the front 
boundary treatments have been submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 

 
(8) Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plans the details of the 

layout and landscaping of the On-site Open Space to be submitted in 
accordance with Schedule 6 of the S106 shall include details of 
benches and bins to be provided within the open space. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the area. 
 

(9) Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plans details of a 1.8m 
boundary treatment and associated planting along the boundary with 
the railway line shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to any development above slab level.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and the fence shall be installed prior to the adjoining open space 
being available for use by the public. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of public safety and the amenities of the area. 
 

(10) Notwithstanding the approved plans details of the proposed hedgehog 
access points within rear garden boundary fences shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
installation of the fences.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons:  In the interests of biodiversity. 
 

(11) Prior to the occupation of each dwelling the associated cycle storage 
shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of sustainable transport. 
 

(12) The garages hereby approved shall only be used for the purpose of 
parking private motor vehicles in connection with the residential use of 
the property and shall not, at any time, be used for living 
accommodation, business, commercial or industrial purposes.   

 
Reason:  To ensure the adequate provision of on-site parking for the 
purpose of highway safety. 
 

(13) The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until 
the area[s] shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles 
[including any areas marked out as being unallocated] shall have been 

65



made available, surfaced and marked out.  The parking area[s] shall 
then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all times. 

 
Reason:  To make provision for off-street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 
 

(14) No private parking management scheme shall be implemented on the 
site without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of proper planning. 
 

(15) The landscaping scheme and its management and maintenance shall 
be carried out in accordance with ACD Environmental's "Soft 
Landscape Specification" (reference MILL21068 spec rev A, dated 
August 2017) and "Soft Landscape Management and Maintenance 
Plan" (reference MILL21068man rev A, dated 24.9.17). 

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 
 

(16) The development must be carried out in accordance with ACD 
Environmental's "Arboricultural Impact Assessment & Method 
Statement" (reference MILL21068aia-ams, revision B, dated 21.1.17 
and may only be modified subject to written agreement from the Local 
Planning Authority. Tree Protection must be addressed as per the tree 
protection plans enclosed within the document. This condition may only 
be fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, 
subject to evidence of satisfactory supervision and monitoring. 

 
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important 
part of the amenity of the locality.  
 

(17) No excavation, demolition or development related works shall 
commence until evidence has been submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the tree protection 
measures have been installed, as detailed in the tree protection plan.  
Once approved, no access by vehicles or placement of goods, 
chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall take place within the 
fenced area.  Tree protection measures shall be retained in their 
approved form for the duration of the work.  This condition may only be 
fully discharged upon completion of the proposed development, subject 
to submission of monthly monitoring reports, detailing supervision 
activity - as stated in ACD Environmental's "Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment & Method Statement" (reference MILL21068aia-ams, 
revision B dated 21.11.17) - and inspections of tree protection 
measures. 

 
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important 
part of the amenity of the locality. 
 

66



(18) Any windows or door marked as obscure glazed or obscure glazed and 
top hung shall be permanently maintained in that condition, with the 
reference to top hung meaning that any opening part of the window 
shall be top hung only. 

 
Reason:  To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential 
property. 
 
Notes to Applicant: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are 
dealt with in a timely manner. 

 
Under the Town and Country Planning England Regulations 2012, a fee 
is required for Discharge of Condition Applications. N.B. Conditions not 
fully discharged, invalidate the planning permission. 

 
The development hereby permitted shall comply with the conditions 
imposed on the grant of the outline planning permission reference 
O/15/75953 which was permitted on 30 November 2016. 

 
In order to avoid any future excavation within the SUDS infrastructure, 
all Southern Water apparatus should be kept outside any impermeable 
membrane, with the only exception of ducted service pipes.  A 
continuous 1.5m minimum width service strip, with “traditional” sub-
base, should be provided at least at one side of the street.  Horizontal 
clearance with structures and other utilities should be provided as per 
NJUG guidelines. 
 
The staggered barriers proposed for installation on Botley Footpath 1 
will require consent from Hampshire County Council as Highway 
Authority. 

 
All proposed works to the surface of Botley Footpath 1 will require the 
consent of Hampshire County Council (HCC).  For the avoidance of 
doubt, any changes to the surface of Botley Footpath 1 not included 
within a S38 agreement with HCC Highways Department will require 
consent from HCC Countryside Service. 
 

__________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 

development which is contrary to the Development Plan and is 
considered to be controversial. 

67



 
 

The site and its surroundings 
 
2. The Boorley Gardens development site is located within the parish of 

Botley and lies to the east of the Borough.  The overall site is a large, 
irregular shaped site that is approximately 45 hectares in size and lies 
to the west of Winchester Road in Boorley Green and to the north east 
of the Portsmouth to London Waterloo railway line.  The site adjoins 
Shamblehurst Lane North in the western corner, with Ford 
Brook/Moorgreen Stream forming the northern boundary of the site.  
Botley Footpath no. 1 runs through the site from Winchester Road to 
Shamblehurst Lane North.  The village of Boorley Green lies to the east 
and south east of the site, with Hedge End railway station located to 
west of the site and the settlement of Hedge End to the west on the 
other side of the railway line. 

 
3. With the exception of the buildings at Park Farm the site is currently 

undeveloped and consists of pasture and arable farmland with various 
hedgerows and tree belts on field boundaries and along the public right 
of way. The northern part of the site is relatively flat, but it rises up in 
the southern part of the site. 

 
4. The site is not located within a Conservation Area, nor are there any 

listed buildings or designated sites of nature conservation interest 
within the site.  However the site is located within the 5.6km Solent 
Mitigation Disturbance Zone associated with the Solent and 
Southampton Water SPA. 

 
5. This reserved matters application relates to the first phase of the 680 

dwelling Boorley Gardens development, located at the northern end of 
the site.   

 
Description of application 

 
6. The reserved matters application is for the first phase of the residential 

development and totals 301 dwellings, together with associated 
parking, road infrastructure, landscaping, open space, surface water 
drainage networks, on-site waste water treatment works, provision of 
additional vehicular parking for Hedge End Railway Station and a bus 
only connection through to Shamblehurst Lane North, pursuant to 
outline planning permission O/15/75953.  The accesses from 
Winchester Road and Shamblehurst Lane were approved as part of the 
outline planning permission and this application seeks approval for the 
following reserved matters in relation to the first phase of the residential 
development and other facilities referred to above: 

 Layout 

 Scale 

 Appearance 

 Landscaping 

68



 
7. The 301 dwellings are proposed to be made up of 196 open market 

dwellings and 105 affordable units, with the mix as follows: 
 

 6 x 1-bed flats (2 open market, 4 affordable) 

 4 x 1-bed maisonettes (all affordable, 1 built to wheelchair 
standards) 

 14 x 2-bed flats (4 open market, 10 affordable) 

 4 x 2-bed maisonettes (all affordable, 1 built to wheelchair 
standards) 

 61 x 2-bed houses (29 open market, 32 affordable) 

 129 x 3-bed houses (83 open market, 46 affordable)  

 83 x 4-bed houses (78 open market, 5 affordable) 
 
8. The residential properties are 2 or 2 ½ storey terraced, semi-detached 

or detached dwellings or maisonettes with 2 flats over parking spaces.  
In addition 3 blocks of flats, 2 ½ and 3 storeys in height, are proposed 
within the development facing onto the main spine road and adjoining 
open space. 

 
9. There are 3 character areas proposed in the first phase of the 

development, using variations in window design, porch details, 
boundary treatments and materials to create different character areas.  
In all character areas properties largely front the road with on-plot 
parking and private gardens to the rear or side.   

 
10. Car parking is provided in a mix of garages, private driveways and 

parking courts. Secure cycle parking for the houses will be provided 
within garages or sheds in rear gardens, and in dedicated cycle stores 
for the flats. 

 
11. In addition to the residential development this application also includes 

areas of open space and an equipped play area; a sustainable surface 
water drainage system; an on-site waste water treatment works located 
in the north eastern corner of the site; the provision of 100 parking 
spaces for Hedge End Railway Station accessed from Shamblehurst 
Lane North and a bus only connection through to Shamblehurst Lane 
North. 

 
12. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 

assessments which have been updated as necessary throughout the 
course of the application: 

 Planning Statement 

 Supplementary Design and Access Statement and Design Code 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement 

 Tree Report 

 Environmental Statement Addendum 

 Ecological Surveys 

69



 Geo-Environmental Site Investigation and Land Contamination 
Assessment 

 Site Waste Management Plan 

 Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 

 Drainage Information & Plan 

 Housing Mix and Affordable Housing Statement 

 Space and Amenity Standards Schedule 

 Soft Landscape Management & Maintenance Plan and Soft 
Landscape Specification 

 Sustainability Statement 
 
13. The outline application was supported by an Environmental Statement.  

It is not considered that there has been a significant change in 
circumstances that requires this reserved matters application to be 
supported by a further Environmental Statement, although an 
addendum has been submitted to reflect the changes to the foul 
drainage proposals. 

 
14. Similarly at outline stage screening was also undertaken to establish 

whether a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is required. It was 
concluded that, with the mitigation proposed and conditions to control 
impacts, no significant likely impacts on any European Designated sites 
would occur as a result of the development and a full HRA was not 
required. Since that decision was made the concerns have been raised 
about Southern Water’s Water Resources Management Plan and the 
foul drainage is now proposed to be dealt with via an on-site waste 
water treatment works.  Natural England is currently considering 
whether either of these issues mean that there has been a change in 
circumstances that such that a full HRA would be required.  

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
15. The relevant history in relation to this site is as follows: 

 
O/15/75953 - Outline application for up to 680 residential units, mixed 
use comprising of retail and/or community/healthcare use, land for two-
form entry primary school, formal and informal open space and sports 
pitches.  New access off Winchester Road, associated on-site roads, 
infrastructure and footpaths/cycleways.  Detailed matters for 
determination access (all other matters reserved - scale, appearance, 
landscaping and layout).  This application is the subject of an 
Environmental Impact Assessment, is a departure from the 
Development Plan, is Major Development and affects the setting of a 
Right of Way – allowed on appeal 30.11.16 

 
16. The S106 legal agreement associated with the outline planning 

permission secured the following in relation to this site: 

 35% affordable housing 

 Provision of on-site open space – informal and formal 

70



 Provision of a new car park for Hedge End railway station 

 Land for a primary school 

 Provision of on-site community building or financial contribution 
towards community infrastructure 

 Land reserved for health care / retail uses for 10 years 
respectively 

 Travel Plan (with bond) 

 Installation of a bus access restrictor (bus gate) 

 Highway works at Winchester Road Roundabout Access, 
Shamblehurst Lane North, Winchester Road / Bubb Lane / 
Snakemoor Lane / Botley Road Roundabout, Winchester Road 
Pedestrian / Cycle Access 

 Financial contributions towards off-site artificial pitch provision, 
off-site public open space, health facilities, trim trail, on-site open 
space maintenance, on-site play area provision and 
maintenance, provision and maintenance of young person’s 
facility, public art, Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership, on-
site street tree maintenance, sustainable transport, M27 Junction 
8 improvements, and primary and secondary education 

 
Representations Received 

 
17. 9 letters of objection were received from adjoining residents and those 

living locally with concerns relating to: 
 

Principle of development 

 Excessive size of development. 

 Overdevelopment of an area already subjected to too much 
development. 

 Number of houses proposed on this site and surrounding area is 
far in excess of what is required for local demand. 

 Alternative sites should be found where infrastructure can cope. 
 
Impact on surrounding area and facilities 

 Loss of character of area and local identity of rural villages with 
open spaces and farmland. 

 Visually intrusive 

 Increase in noise 

 Lack of capacity at doctors and in schools. 

 Increase pressure on already stretched emergency services. 

 No impact studies re: environment, roads or rail (including 
associated demand for parking) submitted as part of application. 

 Increase in traffic on already congested roads and no 
improvements proposed.  Will make using private drives on 
Winchester Road even more dangerous. 

 Does not provide what local people really need. 
 

Layout 

 Only 1 access into the development is inappropriate. 

71



 Object to access to station car parking from within site or from 
the narrow Shamblehurst Lane, which has a tight bend. 

 How will pedestrians reach the station and bus stop safely from 
the site? 

 Insufficient parking on-site. 

 Insufficient gaps between Phase 1 and Phase 2 and existing 
dwellings. 

 LEAP proposals are a lost opportunity to provide adequate 
recreation facilities. 

 
Design 

 Object to 3 storey buildings located on the highest point of the 
site.  This was done at Dowds Farm and they dominate the 
estate and are extremely ugly and overpowering. 

 3 storey dwellings are out of character with rural setting and 
should not be permitted in proximity of Winchester Road - 
bungalows would be a better option in this area. 

 
Landscaping 

 This development could be carried out with consideration to the 
rural nature of the site and Winchester Road and is totally 
irresponsible to ignore the visual impact it will have on 
Winchester Road. 

 The Landscape Masterplan is misleading as it uses a dated 
landscape (excluding Boorley Park) and not the current road 
layout. 

 
Affordable Housing 

 Does not take into account affordable homes for local people 
that are needed to keep a balanced community. 

 
Drainage 

 Object to on-site sewerage treatment works with treated water 
discharging into Ford Lake and the River Hamble, where flooding 
is already a problem. 

 Siting of treatment works right beside Winchester Road will 
destroy beauty of road as it exists today. 

 On-site works will emit noxious smells. 

 What affect will on-site works have on local wildlife and the river? 

 On-site works will put more heavy vehicle traffic on insufficient 
roads. 

 If proceeds without mains drainage and sewerage disposal there 
is a considerable risk of further rises in local water table and 
associated flooding.  Would encourage all residents to consider 
local authority and developers to be liable in event this occurs. 

 
18. 2 letters providing comments on the application were received from 

adjoining residents with concerns relating to: 
 

72



Residential amenities 

 No tree buffer is planned on the boundary between proposed 
dwellings and the existing dwellings on Winchester Road in 
Phase 2, but one is required to protect residential amenities.  
The proposed dwellings could be moved to Phase 1 instead. 

 
Drainage 

 Houses are proposed to the rear of existing properties on 
Winchester Road and this area acts as a surface water 
soakaway for this section of Winchester Road.  In winter and 
following heavy rainfall ditches fill and take considerable time to 
drain due to predominantly clay soil.  Concerned new 
development will lead to problems.  The footpath/cycleway way 
previously shown to the rear of the Winchester Road properties 
should be reinstated. 

 
Consultation Responses  

 
19. Design & Landscape 

Original Plans – Some amendments required to house types on corner 
plots; the parcel adjoining Winchester Road; access to rear gardens 
and to increase natural surveillance of open space.  Some amendments 
also required to the landscaping scheme (including management and 
maintenance plan); the layout of some of the proposed parking courts; 
the layout of the land adjacent to the on-site waste water treatment 
works; and the provision of benches and bins needs to be included on 
the plans 

 
Amended Plans – comments on revised house types and streetscenes 
awaited. 

 
20. Biodiversity – Comments awaited. 
 
21. Trees – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
22. Housing – The proposal is acceptable in terms of the number of 

affordable units, overall housing mix and distribution.  There is not a 
summary of the tenure mix but the applicant is acknowledging the 
requirement for a 65% rent / 35% shared ownership split.  All affordable 
housing should be built to Lifetime Homes and 3% of the affordable 
housing units need to be built to Wheelchair Standards.  This equates 
to 7 units, and 2 are proposed in this phase.  A few detailed questions 
have been raised about the internal layouts of the proposed wheelchair 
homes by the Occupational Therapist. 

 
23. Parks & Open Spaces –  

LEAP Play Area – Detailed comments re: need to comply with 
BSEN1176 and BSEN1177 including the need to ensure the impact 
absorbing surfacing not getting compromised by gravel / stones from 
the hoggin path getting kicked onto it and the frequency of inspections; 

73



need for grass mound for embankment slide to be appropriately 
surfaced rather than just grass; preference for letterbox style litter bin; 
prohibition of use of nails in construction an need for play area to pass 
post-installation inspection prior to opening. 

 
Landscape observations – Need to ensure contractors adhere to 
specification and that it is checked for compliance; should not spray 
chemicals in play area environment unless play area is closed until 
chemical is absorbed or has evaporated; any grass clippings from 
mowing in play area should be boxed off and all arisings removed to 
contractor’s composting / green waste disposal site; and no trees or 
shrubs that have berries or fruiting bodies or are allergenic should be 
planted in play area. 

 
24. Environmental Health  

Noise and Layout - Condition 16 relates to noise and requires amongst 
other things that consideration is given to layout.  This should perhaps 
be considered in parallel with the reserved matters application, but can 
see no details on how noise has influenced the proposed layout.  The 
principal noise issues are probably road and rail noise and potentially 
noise associated with the site adjacent to Braxells Cottage (although 
understand this may be redeveloped for residential use).  Some 
information was provided at the outline stage but it predates this 
application and the predictions do not quite tie up with the site plan.  
Looking at noisier parts of site the information suggests that transport 
noise is of low to medium significance and so is not an especially 
critical driver for design on the site, but it is unlikely to meet all 
requirements without some additional measures.  Some specific plot by 
plot comments provided. 

 
Sewerage Treatment Works – The UK system for provision of sewage 
undertakers is perhaps not a matter for local planning authority (LPA).  
Provided OFWAT’s regulator system ensures that this is an 
arrangement that can work then perhaps it would be duplication for LPA 
to also scrutinise capacity, etc.  Provided comments accurately reflect 
OFWAT’s position then have no further comments on this arrangement.  
However, would like more information about the similar plant in 
Petersfield; how 40m separation distance has been determined; who 
will maintain foul drainage system sewers.  Issues of noise can be dealt 
with via outline. 

 
Contaminated Land – Agree with broad conclusions of submitted report 
that additional site investigation is required in the Park Farm part of the 
site re: soil contamination and ground gases.  Require condition to 
ensure scope of further investigation and mitigation scheme are agreed 
with Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of works. 

 
25. Direct Services – No objection 
 

74



26. HCC Highways - No objection subject to amendments or conditions to 
address control of bus gate; design of visitor parking bays and bin 
collection points; temporary blocking of or provision of turning head on 
access link to phase 2; widening or proposed pedestrian / cycle routes 
on boundaries of site; position of trees and visitor bays; provision of 
cycle storage; and building in accordance with approved plans.  Street 
lighting and tree planting to be in accordance with required standards.  
Method of control of the bus gate is still to be determined.  

 
27. HCC Countryside Access – No objection subject to 2 advisory notices 

re: the need for consent from the Highway Authority for the staggered 
barriers proposed for installation on Botley Footpath No.1 and for  any 
works to the surface of Botley Footpath No.1 that are not included 
within a s38 agreement. 

 
28. HCC Flood and Water Management Team – The proposals for 

surface water drainage meet the current standards / best practice in 
relation to surface water drainage. 

 
29. HCC Archaeology – No objection subject to compliance with the 

archaeology conditions on the outline permission. 
 
30. HCC Children’s Services – No response. 
 
31. Crime Prevention – No response. 
 
32. Environment Agency - The Environment Agency expects 

developments discharging domestic sewerage to connect to the public 
foul sewer where it is reasonable to do so.  Whilst lack of capacity 
within the sewer network is not a reason to allow on site treatment, 
where the proposal is for that plant to be owned and operated by a 
company that has been appointed by OFWAT, known as a NAV (New 
Appointments and Variations), then we will consider that to be 
equivalent to an application for the same activity by the incumbent 
sewerage undertaker, in this location Southern Water.  The proposed 
development will require a bespoke permit under the Environmental 
Permitting Regulations 2010.  We have had initial discussions with the 
proposed NAV for this site and have provided indicative permit limits 
that would apply.  A detailed assessment of information provided of 
treatment for foul drainage will be undertaken as part of the permitting 
process.  The environmental acceptability of the discharge on the 
receiving waters will also be fully determined as part of the permitting 
process.  An application for an Environmental Permit will be determined 
in accordance with Defra guidance and there are therefore no 
guarantees a Permit will be granted.  A Permit will be refused if the 
environmental impacts are unacceptable.   

 
The proposal to use a non mains solution at this site involving the 
possibility of a NAV means that a variation of condition 12 (on the 
outline permission) application will be forthcoming.  We would wish to 

75



be consulted on the variation application in order to ensure that the foul 
drainage is sustainable. 

 
33. Southern Water – No objection to the proposed development layout, 

subject to condition re: protection of water trunk main and note re: 
avoiding excavation within the SUDS infrastructure. 

 
The application submission indicates proposals to construct an on-site 
wastewater treatment plant to be maintained and operated by an 
Independent Sewerage Undertaker under inset agreement.  The foul 
drainage network on the site therefore will not be adoptable by 
Southern Water.   
 
Any proposals to offer the surface water drainage network for adoption 
should be agreed by the sewerage undertaker under Section 104 of the 
Water Industry Act before commencement. 

 
34. Natural England –  

Original application 
Water Quality - proposal includes provision for an on-site Waste Water 
Treatment Works (WWTW) to deal with foul water from the 
development, which will discharge into a watercourse at the north-east 
of the development (Moorgreen Brook/Ford Lake).  

 
Many of the European Sites in the Solent area are failing their 
conservation objectives on water quality due to nitrogen enrichment, 
including the Solent and & Southampton Water Special Protection Area 
(SPA) and Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC). It is 
currently uncertain how planned development growth in the Solent area 
will avoid impacting on-site integrity and what mitigation will be required 
to achieve this. Significant additional work is being carried out in liaison 
with Natural England and the Environment Agency to inform this 
regional issue, and further guidance will be available in due course to 
inform future development. 
 
Given the current uncertainty of impacts of development growth on 
water quality, Natural England strongly advises the Local Authority to 
ensure that these proposals optimise nitrogen reduction to the highest 
level practicable, in order to satisfy itself that impacts on site integrity 
can be avoided or mitigated when undertaking a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). Clearly, if the applicant can demonstrate nitrate 
neutrality, or close to it, your authority could rule out adverse impacts to 
the Solent European Sites. This will also cater for water quality impacts 
on the Upper Hamble Estuary & Woods Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). Measures that should be considered include the 
following: 

 

 Habitat improvements and wetland buffer-edging of the receiving 
stream (Moorgreen Brook/Ford Lake) to denitrify drainage to the 
local watercourse 

76



 Further provision of amenity land in the locality of the 
development 

 Land use change of high-nitrogen input use (e.g. improved 
agricultural land) to low-nitrogen input elsewhere within the 
Hamble catchment 

 Consideration of reduction of housing on site 
 

Water Resource - Water companies are required by law to prepare and 
maintain a Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP). The WRMP 
sets out in detail how each company proposes to ensure that there is 
sufficient security of water supplies to meet the anticipated demands of 
all its customers over the long term with the 2014 plans covering the 
period from 2015 to 2040.  These plans are reviewed every five years. 
The WRMP is subject to a strategic Habitat Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) to ensure the plans comply with the requirements of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
commonly referred to as the Habitats Regulations.   The WRMPs are 
also subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  Natural 
England usually advises that any local plan HRA can refer to the 
agreed WRMP, which has assessed the potential for adverse effects 
arising on designated sites at a strategic level as to date these have 
usually avoided adverse effect upon integrity.  

 
However, concerns have been raised with regard to Southern Water’s 
existing WRMP14 and their emerging Draft WRMP19 options in 
particular with regards to impacts on the River Itchen SAC and the 
River Test SSSI.  Changes to abstraction licences on the River Itchen 
have been imposed by the Environment Agency to remove the risk of 
adverse effect on integrity to the SAC and remove the risk of serious 
damage to the River Test SSSI.  Southern Water has appealed the 
limits proposed for three abstraction licences and this is subject to a 
public inquiry. Until the outcome of this inquiry is known, the HRA for 
Southern Water’s extant WRMP cannot be relied upon to ensure there 
will be no adverse effects on designated sites arising from future 
development within Southern Water’s area.   In addition the risk of 
adverse effects remains until the gap in public water supply (deficit) 
resultant from the licence changes is fulfilled by alternative options and 
or the compensatory habitat requirements are met.  
 
It is, therefore, Natural England’s advice that water resource issues are 
included in the HRA screening assessment of applications and local 
plans, and further detailed assessments are undertaken by your 
authority as appropriate. Consideration will need to be given to the 
availability and source of water resources within each local authority 
area and any associated impacts on designated sites. In line with best 
practice, Natural England recommends that local authorities encourage 
high levels of water efficiency for new developments (including 
consideration of grey water recycling, efficient appliances etc.). 
Measures should also be sought to improve the efficiency of the overall 

77



water network. For example the Local Authority could secure financial 
contributions for the following improvements: 

 

 Increase in repair of leakages across the water supply network  

 Retro-fitting of existing housing stock with more water-efficient 
appliances/toilets/showers etc. 

 Support the ‘recharging’ of rivers 
 

The Local Authority will need to make sure this issue is addressed 
when undertaking a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and look 
to secure measures to ensure impacts on site integrity of the River 
Itchen SAC can be avoided, or mitigated. 
 
Solent Mitigation Recreation Partnership contributions - This application 
site is within 5.6km of Solent & Southampton Water SPA and will lead 
to a net increase in residential accommodation. Natural England is 
aware that Eastleigh Borough Council has adopted a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to mitigate against adverse effects from 
recreational disturbance on the Solent SPA sites, as agreed by the 
SRMP. The applicant should ensure compliance with the SPD or policy, 
to ensure mitigation against the potential adverse effects of the 
development on the integrity of the European site(s). 

 
Construction impacts - Noted there is a population of invasive non-
native Japanese knotweed at the site. The method for removal of this 
invasive non-native species and measures taken to avoid its spread 
should be incorporated into the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP). The CEMP should then be adhered to at all 
times, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Additional Information – comments awaited. 

 
35. Network Rail – Developer must ensure the proposal, during 

construction, after completion and during future maintenance, does not 
encroach onto Network Rail land, or affect, undermine or obstruct the 
railway, associated land, infrastructure and airspace.  Guidance given 
with regard to location of drainage, plant and materials, scaffolding, 
piling, fencing, lighting, noise & vibration and vehicle incursion, in 
particular no development should be within 2m of the boundary (or 3m 
for overhead lines or 3rd rail) and a 1.8n fence is required along the 
length of the boundary with railway land. 

 
36. Southern Gas Networks – No response. 
 
37. SSE - Developers must obtain records of our Distribution Network 

apparatus to ensure that our equipment is not compromised. 
 
38. Health & Safety Executive – Do not advise against, on safety grounds, 

the granting of planning permission in this case.  Suggest contact 

78



Southern Gas Network as proposed development is within Consultation 
Distance of a major hazard pipeline. 

 
39. British Horse Society – Request that public rights of way and off road 

access for ALL user groups are considered.  Can see no bridleways / 
byways in the immediate vicinity of the proposed development so there 
should be no negative impact to existing routes.  Increased traffic 
means the roads will become even more dangerous for riders and 
carriage drivers so any rights of way created around the development 
should be suitable for, and available for, equestrian users. 

 
40. Ramblers – No objection to what is proposed in relation to Footpath 

No. 1 Botley.  Remain concerned about the areas shown as open 
space and associated footpath routes.  As we understand it there are 
no proposals to bring these lands into public ownership or to secure for 
the benefit of those who do not have a legal right in these lands to 
public access.  The amount of land to be maintained will be a significant 
burden on residents or another private body.  Given the amount of 
additional Council Tax income that this site will generate we consider 
that these lands should be taken over by Eastleigh Borough Council or 
Botley Parish Council for the benefit of all inhabitants. 

 
41. Southampton Airport Airside Operations Policy & Planning Officer 

– No response. 
 
42. Botley Parish Council –  

 Play equipment – is it proposed to be timber; will money be set 
aside for its replacement? 

 Refuse bin storage – appears to be no provision for garden 
waste bins in bin store designs.  Uncertain whether there is 
sufficient space to put large refuse bin between parked car and 
dwelling when putting bin out for collection. 

 Flood Risk and Drainage – Concerned about potential flood risk 
in NW corner of site and area parallel to railway line where 
embankment is over 100 years old.  Drainage plans incorrectly 
refer to Moorgreen Stream as a river.  The stream feeds into 
Ford Lake and then the River Hamble.  For public safety all 
balancing pond areas should be surrounded by fencing. 

 Parking – Traffic parking restrictions will be needed in vicinity of 
new Station Car Parking to prevent off road parking to avoid 
parking charges.  Insufficient visitor parking throughout site. 

 Building Design – 3 storey dwellings are not attractive in rural 
location.  The blocks of flats are unattractive, overpowering and 
out of keeping.  Object to lack of bungalows and affordable 
Starter Homes.  Landscape buffering on eastern boundary 
should be continued southwards and widened in Phase 2 to 
protect amenities of neighbouring residents on Winchester Road 
and houses shown on this boundary in Phase 2 should be 
relocated.  Request confirmation from Icosa that property 
alignments will not cross sewerage infrastructure or easements. 

79



 Access to Hedge End Station – access to station from new car 
park does not address safe access for the disabled, those with 
buggies, or anyone on foot.  What access is there to the north 
platform, there is no ticket machine on that platform? 

 Water treatment and sewage disposal –  
Concern about: 

- Risk of smell from processing plant when sludge 
removed; 

- Potential effluent contamination risk to River Hamble in 
event of operation failure of sewage treatment plant;  

- Expulsion of water into Ford Lake increasing level of 
water table under Boorley Park development and Boorley 
Green in general; 

 
Question whether:  

- Road access for sewage tanker is sufficiently wide to 
ensure it is not impeded by residential parking; 

- Figures for estimated water levels, including ground 
water, had been evaluated in conjunction with estimated 
figures for Boorley Park development; 

- The storm flow rates have been checked in relation to the 
potential impact upon streams and tributaries within the 
application site and surrounding area in light of climate 
change and increase in 100 year weather events; 

- The storm flow and water run off data is for 301 houses or 
for total 680 houses.  Would like to see full data estimates 
for the whole site. 

 
EBC should make a holding objection until extra data re: 
sewerage arrangements and environmental impact are supplied 
by the developer. 

 
Questions re: on-site sewage plant 

- How many plants of similar size and treatment capacity 
exist country wide? 

- What data is available about the number of plant outages 
experienced and the causes per site? 

- What is the life expectancy of the plant, and spare parts 
availability and shelf life for this period?  Will all scheduled 
maintenance be concurrent to plant operation?  Has a 
Component Failure Impact Analysis (CFIA) been carried 
out? 

- What contingency exists for a total plant failure, both for 
in-plant or loss of external infrastructure such as 
electricity? 

 
43. Hedge End Town Council – No objection; however wish to make the 

following observations: 

 The development should allow for sufficient access from 
Winchester Road in view of the frequency of Waste Disposal 

80



Vehicles entering the site, and in so doing use sufficient 
measures to reduce on-street parking. 

 Concerns regarding both vehicular and pedestrian safety using 
the bridge to Hedge End railway station. 

 Would recommend installation of a footbridge in the interest of 
safe passage of pedestrians to Hedge End railway station. 

 Concerned that Waste Disposal Vehicles can only access the 
site via the residential streets and ask why a further access 
cannot be created from Winchester Road directly to the pump 
station, or could the proposed exit route to Winchester Road be 
utilised to incorporate access. 

 Welcome proposals for open spaces and play area. 
 
44. Durley Parish Council – Strongly object.   

The development would have a serious impact on the lovely, quiet 
country lanes and footpaths, further reducing the quality of life for local 
residents. 

 
Junction 7 of M27 is very congested and there are frequent accidents 
on the M27 and M3 which have knock-on effects on all lanes and roads 
in the area.  If more development is planned along the borders of the 
M27, Junction 6 should be installed.  This would also help with traffic 
associated with the international cricket ground.  There is inadequate 
provision to counterbalance the increase in traffic on the already 
congested road infrastructure and no consideration is given to 
additional traffic from new developments in the wider area. 

 
Current bus and train services and road network are insufficient and 
cannot cope with increase in development.  Developments on the 
Durley boundary are causing increase in traffic through the village, 
often at greater speeds than village can cope with.  Adjoining villages 
are greatly affected by more development but no finance is given to 
those parishes who suffer additional traffic and speeding vehicles to try 
to address this added burden. 
 
No additional medical facilities for all these new developments and 
existing facilities are already struggling. 
 
Proposal will be prominent and have significant impact on character of 
rural area and landscape. 
 
Development is too large and intrusive and will not leave a greenfield 
gap between other development and combined with other anticipated 
development in the area it would not be sustainable for the 
infrastructure which is available or proposed.  

 
45. Curdridge Parish Council – Object on the grounds that this 

application represents a further over-development of the Winchester 
City Council boundaries of Eastleigh, given the applications for Botley 
Park / Boorley Green and Uplands Farm.  Extremely concerned that 

81



this would further increase the traffic south and east bound that will 
have to pass through Curdridge and cause increased noise and 
pollution. 

 
46. Botley Parish Action Group – Objection 

On-site waste water treatment works – deeply concerned about 
proposed on-site treatment unit.  Would seem decision has been made 
on grounds of cost and timescale but think it is totally unsuitable system 
to serve such a large development and be installed in an area in close 
proximity to a large number of other housing – newly built or existing.  
Not convinced that serious malfunctions in terms of security, odour and 
emergency arrangements, can be guaranteed not to arise and they 
would cause considerable trouble and unpleasantness for all local 
residents.  Concerned about discharge of all treated water into Ford 
Lake and then Hamble River.  There is regular flooding most winters 
where Ford Lake meets the Hamble in Maddoxford Lane and there 
have been very serious problems at Botley Mill on several occasions in 
recent years.  Have any studies been done as to the effect of the extra 
water flow when combined with other new development in the area?  
How will it affect water table? 

 
Building Heights – Not necessary to have 3-storey buildings on this site 
that was in the green gap separating Boorley Green from Hedge End.  
Buildings should be designed to minimise impact on such open 
countryside that still remains.  Developers say different building heights 
are laid out to suit topography of the land, but why are 3 storey units 
being placed near Winchester Road on what is almost highest land in 
Botley Parish, to the detriment of the local landscape.  Idea that this will 
form an “urban entrance” to the development indicates that little 
consideration is being given to the rural nature of the surrounding area. 
 
Station Car Park – Would like to see considerably more detail about 
traffic flow at Shamblehurst Lane North bus gate as this is a very small 
lane, with dangerous bends and a narrow bridge.  Understand bridge is 
to be narrowed to allow a safe pedestrian crossing but how are extra 
vehicle movements to be managed? 
 
Travel to school – young people will need to travel safely to senior 
school on foot, by bike or on public transport.  A footbridge across the 
railway towards the new secondary school off Woodhouse Lane should 
be provided.  A suggestion that the footway over the Boorley Green 
bridge should be widened is ludicrous as it would narrow the road so 2 
cars cannot pass, causing build up in traffic wishing to access the new 
bypass.  If development permitted should provide financial contribution 
towards solving this problem and ensuring safety of residents. 

 
 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

 Designated Countryside and Local Gap 

82



 Solent Mitigation Disturbance Zone 

 Public Right of Way 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 
 
47. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) states that (as required by statute) applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Paragraph 14 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that (unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise) development proposals which accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. Where the development plan is 
absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission 
(again, unless material considerations indicate otherwise) should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits; or specific policies 
in the Framework indicate development should be restricted (paragraph 
14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now 
deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should 
be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree 
of consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in 
the plan accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given. 

 
48. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 7 are to be 

sought jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land 
availability); social (providing housing, creating high quality environment 
with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, 
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst 
paragraph 10 advises that plans and decisions need to take local 
circumstances into account, so they respond to the different 
opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas. 

 
49. Paragraph 17 sets out 12 core planning principles that include; 

 always seeking to secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing occupiers of land; 

 contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
and reducing pollution 

 
50. Paragraphs 56 to 61 give importance to good design as part of 

sustainable built development.  
 
51. Paragraph 69 – Decisions should aim to achieve places which promote 

meetings between members of the community, safe and accessible 
environments and developments containing clear and legible pedestrian 
routes, high quality public space which encourages the active and 
continual use of public areas. 

 

83



52. Paragraph 70 – Decisions should plan for the provision and use of 
shared space, community facilities etc. and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing and other uses. 

 
53. Paragraph 73 – Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities 

for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities. Information gained from 
assessments should determine what open space, sports and 
recreational provision are needed. 

 
54. Paragraph 103 – Ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
 
55. Paragraphs 109 to 108 protect biodiversity and seek net gains where 

possible. 
 
56. Paragraphs 123 – Avoid, mitigate and reduce noise which gives rise to 

significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life. 
 
57. Paragraph 192 – The right information is crucial to good decision-

taking, particularly where formal assessments are required (such as 
EIA/HRA/FRA). 

 
58. Paragraph 196 indicates that planning law requires that planning 

applications are dealt with in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is such a 
material consideration. 

 
59. Paragraph 203 - LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 

development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions 
or planning obligations. 

 
Planning Practice Guidance 

 
60. Where material, this guidance on air quality, good design, material 

considerations, flood risk, contamination, noise, open space, 
recreational facilities, natural environment, planning obligations, travel 
plans, transport assessments, water supply and wastewater provision 
should be afforded weight in the consideration of planning applications. 

 
The Development Plan 

 
61. At the current time the Development Plan for the borough comprises 

the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013). 

 
 

84



Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review (EBLP 2001-2011) 

 
62. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 was adopted in 

May 2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of proposed 
Saved Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be 
saved until they could be replaced by a new Local Development 
Framework. The following policies were Saved and are considered to 
be of relevance to the development proposals: 

 

 23NC – Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs). 

 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity 

 28.ES – Waste collection and storage 

 30.ES – Noise-Sensitive Development 

 34.ES – Requirement to reduce greenhouse gases 

 36.ES - Lighting 

 45.ES – Sustainable drainage requirements 

 59.BE – High quality design 

 72.H – Density 

 74.H – On-Site affordable housing 

 100.T – Sustainable transport 

 102.T – Safe accesses 

 104.T – Off-highway parking 

 147.OS – Provision of public open space 

 190.IN – Infrastructure provision 
 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 
63. The application site does not lie within a Minerals or Waste 

Safeguarding Area. 
 

Emerging Local Plan Policies  
 
64. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 

examination in July 2014. In the Inspector’s subsequent Report (11 
February 2015), this Plan was found to have a number of shortcomings 
in relation to housing need, identified housing requirements and 
housing supply, sufficient that it was found to be unsound. The Council 
have ceased work on this Plan and are in the process of preparing a 
new plan to the period up to 2036 (see below). The Plan has, however, 
not been withdrawn and therefore continues to be a material 
consideration. As the Plan and the policies contained within it are not 
being progressed in their current form, however, extremely limited 
weight can be attributed to it in the determination of this application. 

 
65. The most relevant draft policies of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough 

Local Plan 2011-2029 are: 

 S1 – Sustainable Development 

85



 S5 – Green Infrastructure 

 S8 – Strategic footpath, cycleway, bridleway links 

 S11 – Nature Conservation 

 S12 – Heritage Assets 

 DM1 - General criteria for new development 

 DM2 – Environmentally sustainable development 

 DM5 – Sustainable surface water management and watercourse 
management 

 DM7 – Pollution 

 DM8 – Public Utilities and communications 

 DM9 –Nature Conservation 

 DM10 – Heritage Assets 

 DM23 – General development criteria - transport 

 DM24 – Parking 

 DM28 – Affordable housing 

 DM29 – Internal space standards of residential development 

 DM32 – Provision of recreation and open space facilities with 
new development 

 
66. As noted above, a new emerging development plan (the draft Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2016-2036) is currently being prepared and on the 
11 December 2017 the Council approved the draft plan for public 
consultation, subject to the finalising of the wording and content as well 
as the completion of technical studies, and the completion and updating 
of the evidence base. It is anticipated that the draft local plan will be out 
for consultation in Spring 2018. This plan is a material consideration in 
the determination of this application, however in light of its status, it is 
considered that only very limited weight can be attributed to it. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
67. Relevant documents are: 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (December 
2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (July 
2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally 
Sustainable Development (March 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking 
Standards (January 2009) 

 
Other relevant documents 

 
68. Internal Space Standards (January 2012) 
 
 

86



Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 
69. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a 
local planning authority determining an application to do so in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
70. The Development Plan in this case comprises the saved policies of the 

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (adopted 2013). 

 
71. In terms of other material planning considerations, the National 

Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance constitute 
material considerations of significant weight. 

 
The Principle of Development 

 
72. The site is located within the countryside in the adopted local plan but 

outline planning permission for up to 680 dwellings together with a 
mixed use area comprising of retail and/or community/healthcare use; 
land for a two-form entry primary school, formal and informal open 
space and sports pitches to be accessed off Winchester Road was 
allowed on appeal in November 2016. The principle of residential 
development on this site accessed off Winchester Road, with a 
secondary access of Shamblehurst Lane North for additional parking for 
the railway station and a bus-only connection through to the rest of the 
development, has therefore been established and cannot be 
reconsidered as part of this application.  As such the proposed 
development is acceptable in principle.  Issues of highways impact, 
ecology, archaeology, drainage, contaminated land, noise and 
vibration, dust, protection of trees, and the level of affordable housing 
and public open space were considered at the outline stage and 
covered by submission of documents as part of the outline application, 
conditions attached to the outline permission, or obligations contained 
within the associated S106 legal agreement. 

 
Sustainable Development 

 
73. The outline application considered matters of sustainability.  The 

Secretary of State concluded that the development was contrary to the 
local plan, would harm the landscape and result in the loss of 
countryside, but there would be a only very limited impact on views 
outside the site and its immediate surroundings.  In addition at the time 
of the decision, the Council was unable to demonstrate a 5-year 
housing land supply and the development would bring substantial 
benefits in terms of additional open market and affordable housing, for 
which there are substantial shortfalls; green infrastructure; and 
improved pedestrian and cycle links and connectivity, including to the 

87



railway station.  As such the Secretary of State concluded that the 
proposals would amount to sustainable development. 

 
74. The proposed development was therefore considered to be sustainable 

in principle. The detailed matters arising from the 1st phase of the 
residential development, the car park for the railway station, the open 
space and associated infrastructure are covered below in the sections 
relating to the reserved matters that are now to be considered - layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping. 

 
Layout 

 
75. The proposed layout shows the main spine road, with shared 

pedestrian/cycle paths on both sides, accessed off Winchester Road 
and leading through to Shamblehurst Lane North in close proximity to 
Hedge End railway station.  Only buses, pedestrians and cyclists will be 
able to travel through to the Shamblehurst Lane access (and vice 
versa) as a bus gate will prevent general through traffic.  The S106 
legal agreement associated with the outline permission requires details 
of the means of controlling the bas gate to be submitted and approved 
by Hampshire County Council.  Secondary roads lead off the spine road 
on both sides, generally creating a perimeter block layout with a few 
small cul-de-sacs within them or private drives leading from them.  The 
road heading north from the spine road has been designed to 
accommodate the vehicles used to service the on-site waste water 
treatment works, which is located in the north-eastern corner of the site 
adjacent to Winchester Road. 

 
76. Dwellings generally face onto a road, private drive or small courtyard, 

with the majority having on-plot parking.  The relevant parking 
standards have been met for all dwellings and for visitor parking.  For 
those that do not have garages or drives, parking is provided in a 
parking court and for those without garages a shed is to be provided in 
the rear garden for cycle storage.  All flats are provided with dedicated 
cycle storage.  All dwellings have been provided with rear access to 
their gardens and these are considered to be appropriate for allowing 
the movement of bins and cycles, as well as pedestrian access.   

 
77. Informal open space is provided along the north western and south 

western boundaries providing buffers between the built development 
and the watercourse on the north western boundary and the railway on 
the south western boundary.  Features of the sustainable urban 
drainage system are proposed within these areas, and also in another 
area of open space adjacent to the spine road.  An equipped play area 
is also proposed within the centre of this phase, again adjacent to the 
spine road.  Existing tree and hedgerows provide further green links 
through the site and connect to the areas of open space. 

 
78. The proposed 100-space car park for the users of Hedge End railway 

station is located in the western corner of the application site, with 

88



approximately two thirds of the spaces accessible from Shamblehurst 
Land North and the other third accessible from within the site. 

 
79. Separation distances, internal space standards and garden sizes have 

been assessed and the vast majority of plots meet the Council’s 
standards.  A few improvements have been requested to ensure a 
satisfactory relationship between dwellings and appropriate living 
standards.  Amended plans have been submitted to address these 
issues and Members will be updated at committee. 

 
80. As noted above some amendments have been requested by 

Hampshire County Council Highways in terms of the highway layout, 
pedestrian / cycle links, bin collection points and the exact position of 
certain trees.  It is considered that these are minor in nature and can be 
easily resolved through the submission of amended plans. 

 
Scale 

 
81. The proposal consists of a mix of detached, semi-detached and 

terraced properties, together with 2 flats above garages and 3 blocks of 
flats. The dwellings are 2 or 2 ½ storeys in height, the flats above 
garages are 2 storey in height, and two blocks of flats are 2 ½ storey in 
height and the other is 3 storey in height. Comments have been made 
that the blocks of flats are inappropriate as they are not typical of the 
rural area. It is accepted that they are not typical development form 
found historically in Boorley Green, but a development of this size will 
have to include a wide variety of forms of buildings and it is not 
unreasonable that this would include some 3 storey buildings.  The 
parameter plans approved as part of the outline planning permission 
reflect this and indicate that 3 storey properties (up to 12m in height) 
are allowed at the entrance to the site and around the local centre, with 
up to 2 ½ storey properties (up to 11m in height) along the remainder of 
the spine road and adjacent to the areas of open space, and the 
remainder being up to 2 storey properties.  The block of flats are 
relatively small, accommodating only 6 flats each. As such the scale of 
the flats is kept to a minimum, with a ridge height of 10.7m and their 
location adjacent to the main spine road and facing an area of open 
space ensures that there would be space around them so that they do 
not appear cramped.  In addition they are located within the 
development and not adjacent to any of the existing dwellings of 
Boorley Green.  As such it is considered that the blocks of flats could be 
satisfactorily accommodated within the proposed development and 
would not be significantly detrimental to its character or appearance or 
long views. 

 
Appearance 

 
82. All of the houses are 2 or 2 ½ storey in height, terraced, semi-detached 

or detached, with 2 blocks of flats being 2 ½ storey in height and the 
other being 3 storey in height.     As described above there are 3 

89



character areas proposed in the first phase of the development that use 
variations in window design, porch details and boundary treatments to 
create different character areas.  Roofs are pitched slate or tiled roofs 
with mainly brick elevations together with the use of some render, 
painted brick, cladding or tile hanging used to add interest to the 
elevations and help define the different character areas.  It will be 
important that good quality materials are used and a condition on the 
outline permission requires details to be submitted for approval. 

 
83. In general the design of the buildings are considered to be acceptable 

but there are some instances where further amendments have been 
requested to improve the external appearance of the dwellings and flats 
and to add interest to the roof scape, improve corner plots and create 
attractive streetscenes.  The applicant has confirmed they are willing to 
make the necessary changes and amended plans have been submitted 
and are being considered.  Members will be updated at committee. 

 
84. It is noted that the Parish Council have raised concerns about the 

design of the flats being out of keeping.  It is accepted that historically 
properties in Boorley Green have been generally 2 storey houses.  
However on a site of this size it is considered that some different 
character areas, and variations in height and design of buildings, are 
required to add interest to the development and prevent it being too 
monotonous in appearance.  Three blocks of flats have been proposed 
fronting onto the main spine road through the northern part of the site 
where there is more space around the properties and buildings of this 
height can be accommodated in the streetscene.  A similar approach 
was taken on the Boorley Park development to the north-east of 
Boorley Green.  Some amendments to the design of the flats have been 
requested and Members will be updated at committee. 

 
85. It is considered that subject to the amended plans satisfactorily 

addressing these points it should be possible to ensure that the 
individual dwellings and blocks of flats, and their relative siting would 
give rise to an acceptable form of development with respect to 
appearance. 

 
86. HCC Highways have made a number of detailed points and requested 

some revisions to the original layout.  It is not considered that any of the 
points raised would require a significant redesign of the scheme and 
amended plans have been submitted to address the issues raised.  The 
amended plans are currently being considered and Members will be 
updated at committee. 

 
Landscaping 

 
87. A tree lined approach to the spine road is proposed, with additional 

street trees within the remainder of the development.  Opportunity is 
also taken for additional tree planting within the open spaces to create 
attractive vistas and improve the setting to the northern part of the 

90



overall site.  While some amendments have been requested to the 
proposed landscaping scheme, no objections have been raised with 
regard to the impact on existing trees and it is considered that a 
successful landscaping scheme can be achieved.  Members will be 
updated at committee. 

 
Affordable Housing 

 
88. The S106 associated with the outline planning permission requires 35% 

of the dwellings to be affordable.  This application seeks reserved 
matters approval for 301 dwellings, of which 105 are affordable units 
(35%), with the mix as follows: 

 

 4 x 1-bed flats  

 4 x 1-bed maisonettes (1 built to wheelchair standards) 

 10 x 2-bed flats  

 4 x 2-bed maisonettes (1 built to wheelchair standards) 

 32 x 2-bed houses  

 46 x 3-bed houses  

 5 x 4-bed houses  
 
89. Housing specialists have been consulted on the application.  They are 

satisfied with the level of affordable housing proposed, the mix and 
location of the units.  Information on the tenure has not been included 
with this application, but the S106 requires 65% of the affordable units 
to be affordable rent and 35% to be intermediate dwellings, or another 
mix as agreed in writing.  All the affordable housing is to be built to 
Lifetime Homes Standards, with 3% of the affordable units to be built to 
Wheelchair Standards.  This phase includes 2 wheelchair units, leaving 
5 more to be provided in the remainder of the development.  Housing 
has raised few detailed questions about the internal layouts of the 
proposed wheelchair homes, but it is anticipated that this can be easily 
resolved.  Members will be updated at committee. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
90. As indicated above there are a few instances in the layout where 

improvement to the separation distances, internal space standards and 
garden sizes is required to ensure a satisfactory relationship between 
dwellings and appropriate living standards.  It is anticipated that the 
layout can be amended to ensure satisfactory dwelling and garden 
sizes and acceptable relationships between dwellings.  Amended plans 
have been submitted and Members will be updated at committee. 

 
91. It is noted that Environmental Health has indicated that some dwellings 

may need additional measures in place to ensure that appropriate noise 
levels are met.  While it would be helpful to have this information when 
considering the reserved matters application it is covered by condition 
16 on the outline planning permission and this only states that it must 

91



be provided prior to commencement of the development.  As such it 
cannot be insisted that it is provided at this stage.   

 
92. The nearest buildings to the site are Braxells Cottage and the 

associated commercial buildings.  They are located 4-15m from the 
boundary, but there is a separation distance of at least 30-40m between 
them and the nearest proposed dwelling.  There is currently a planning 
application in for the redevelopment of the commercial buildings and 
the majority of the surrounding land at Braxells Cottage.  Looking at the 
currently proposed layout for that site there would be a separation 
distance of at least 40m between any of the new dwellings on that site 
or the retained Braxells Cottage and those proposed as part of this 
application.  It is considered that there would be no significantly 
detrimental impact on the residential amenities of adjoining properties 
as a result of the proposed layout. 

 
93. It is noted that the proposals for the local centre for the Boorley Park 

development on the other side of Winchester Road currently include 
older person’s accommodation.  Given a separation distance of at least 
60m it is also considered that there would be no detrimental impact to 
the residential amenities of any future occupiers of that scheme, based 
on the latest layout for that site. 

 
94. It is noted that comments have been received about the impact of 

development on existing residents of Winchester Road.  To the south of 
this 1st phase of the development the site does back onto existing 
properties on Winchester Road.  It will be important to ensure that their 
residential amenities are not adversely affected, which may mean that 
changes will need to be made to that part of the layout.  However, it is 
considered that there is sufficient space left within the overall 
development site to make amendments to the layout where necessary 
without additional dwellings having to be accommodated in Phase 1. 

 
95. Subject to the amended plans satisfactorily resolving the small number 

of outstanding issues regarding separation distances, dwelling and 
garden sizes then it is considered that the proposed development would 
not have a significantly detrimental impact on residential amenities. 

 
Drainage  

 
96. The outline planning application was supported by a surface water 

drainage strategy demonstrating that surface water drainage would 
include attenuation basins and be via controlled discharge into existing 
surface water bodies, with run-off restricted to existing greenfield rates.  
Due to the topography of the site the large majority of the site will drain 
northwards and discharge into Moorgreen Stream on the northern 
boundary.  The remainder of the site will discharge into the existing 
drainage ditch to the south of the site that forms part of the local land 
drainage network.  No surface water run-off will be discharged off-site 
into sewers or highway drains. 

92



 
97. Surface water run-off will pass through at least 3 stages of treatment / 

filtration before being discharged off-site to ensure water quality will not 
be affected.  The SUDS are designed to be dry with no permanent 
water body within them and will be planted accordingly. 

 
98. Condition 11 on the outline permission requires full details of the 

surface water strategy to be submitted and approved prior to 
commencement of development. 

 
99. At the outline stage it was anticipated that foul drainage would be dealt 

with via a connection to the local foul sewer network with improvements 
required to increase capacity.  The applicant has had further 
discussions with Southern Water about the extent of the infrastructure 
improvements required and due to the length of the detailed design 
programme, the uncertainties as to the cost and implementation 
timeframes, the applicant has decided that this is not currently a 
feasible option.  As such they are proposing an on-site waste water 
treatment works (WWTW) to serve the whole site, located within the 
north-eastern corner of the site, adjacent to Winchester Road.   

 
100. The WWTW will be managed and maintained by a water company, 

Icosa, which is fully regulated by OFWAT.  The foul water will be 
entirely treated on site with treated water being discharged into 
Moorgreen Stream and any residual waste being tinkered off-site for 
disposal once a week by a 32 tonne tanker.  The road layout has been 
designed to accommodate this size of vehicle and, in addition, a 
dedicate maintenance access from Winchester Road is also proposed 
using the existing farm access to the north east corner of the site.  The 
Environment Agency will be responsible for issuing an Environmental 
Permit which will include strict water quality standards. 

 
101. Condition 12 on the outline permission requires the development to be 

in accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) that was 
submitted in support of that application.  As the FRA said that foul 
drainage would be connected to the foul sewer an application will be 
needed to amend outline condition 12.  In applying to amend that 
condition full details of the proposed on-site WWTW will be required.   

 
102. As such it is not for this reserved matters approval to approve the 

technical drainage details, only to ensure that there is enough space 
within the layout to accommodate it.  Subject to satisfactorily 
addressing Environmental Health’s queries about possible odour, it is 
considered that the proposed layout satisfactorily accommodates the 
surface water and foul drainage proposals with sufficient separation 
distance between any above ground features and the proposed 
dwellings such that there will not be any significant detrimental impact 
on residential amenities.  Other legislation will ensure that the operating 
water company are properly regulated and there will be no adverse 
impact on water quality from the on-site WWTW. 

93



 
 

Ecology 
 
103. A full ecological assessment was undertaken at outline stage and has 

been updated for this reserved matters application.  Subject to the 
conditions attached to the outline permission and the proposed 
mitigation measures it was considered that there would be no 
significantly adverse impact on the biodiversity and ecological interests 
of the site and the surrounding area.  The ecological impact of the 
detailed reserved matters proposal is currently being considered and 
Members will be updated at committee. 

 
104. As mentioned above, since the outline permission was issued concerns 

have been raised about Southern Water’s Water Resources 
Management Plan and the abstraction licences associated with it.  In 
addition it is now proposed that foul drainage connects to an on-site 
waste water treatment works instead of the main sewer.  Natural 
England is currently considering whether a full Habitats Regulations 
Assessment is required as a result of these amendments. 

 
Other matters 

 
105. The comments from Parks & Open Spaces about the layout, 

maintenance and management of the proposed play area are noted.  
The S106 legal agreement associated with the outline permission 
requires full details of the proposed play area, its landscaping and 
maintenance to be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 
the relevant phase, including details of consultation with local residents 
by any future management company if the land is not transferred to the 
Council.  The applicant is required to notify the Council prior to 
commencement whether they intend to transfer the public open space 
to the Council or a management company. 

 
106. Botley Parish Council has questioned the lack of storage for garden 

waste in bin store designs.  Bin stores are only provided for the flats 
and as there will be no individual gardens for the flats these will be 
subject to their own management regimes with those carrying out the 
landscape maintenance for the flats being responsible for removing any 
garden waste.   

 
107. The suggestion that a new footbridge should be provided over the 

railway to give access to the new secondary school proposed on the 
Woodhouse Lane site is noted.  Financial contributions towards 
sustainable transport were secured as part of the outline permission 
and it is not therefore possible to secure further financial contributions 
in associated with this reserved matters application or require this 
development to install a bridge.  In determining any future plans for the 
southern part of the development consideration could be given to the 
space required for such a bridge, should it be provided in the future.  

94



 
 

Conclusion 
 
108. Subject to some amendments to the proposed scheme, as outlined 

above and the satisfactory completion of consultations this reserved 
matters scheme is considered to conform to the parameters identified at 
the outline permission stage and would be an acceptable form of 
development meeting the necessary standards. Reserved matters 
approval is therefore recommended. 

 

95



© Crown copyright and database rights (2018) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

RM/17/81628

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:5000

11/01/2018

SU5015

Title:

Land north west of Boorley
Green

 
 
 

96


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Ageas Bowl Review for 2017
	8 Community Grants 2018
	Final Community grant record sheet 2018

	9 Financial Management
	11 Planning Application - Former Budgens Store, 1 Upper Northam Road, Southampton, SO30 4DY
	12 Planning Application - Land to the north west of Boorley Green, SO32 2BX

